

Rui Dinis Ribeiro da Silva Pinto

Licenciatura em Ciências de Engenharia Biomédica

Development of a Non-Invasive Brain-Computer Interface for Neurorehabilitation

Dissertação para obtenção do Grau de Mestre em Mestrado Integrado em Engenharia Biomédica

Orientador: Hugo Ferreira, Prof. Auxiliar, IBEB, FCUL

Júri: Presidente: Prof. Doutora Carla Quintão Pereira Arguente: Vogal:



Setembro, 2015

Development of a Non-Invasive Brain-Computer Interface for Neurorehabilitation

Copyright © Rui Dinis Ribeiro da Silva Pinto, Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia, Universidade Nova de Lisboa

A Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia e a Universidade Nova de Lisboa têm o direito, perpétuo e sem limites geográficos, de arquivar e publicar esta dissertação através de exemplares impressos reproduzidos em papel ou de forma digital, ou por qualquer outro meio conhecido ou que venha a ser inventado, e de a divulgar através de repositórios científicos e de admitir a sua cópia e distribuição com objectivos educacionais ou de investigação, não comerciais, desde que seja dado crédito ao autor e editor.

To my Friends and Family

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I want to show my gratitude to my Dissertation adviser for giving me the opportunity to carry out a project in an area for which a have a keen interest: Brain-Computer Interfaces. I would like to thank everyone at *IBEB* that has helped me and gladly volunteered to take part of the studies I conducted. I would also like to acknowledge the staff and faculty of my University, *Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade Nova de Lisboa* for providing me with the academic tools and expertise to carry out my thesis, and hopefully to build a strong professional career.

Secondly, I want to thank all my friends for providing moral support and inspiration. My university pals, *A Centopeia* and my recent friends that have accompanied me throughout a bumpy year. Also, a special thanks to my Erasmus buddies, the *Wolfpack*, who give me the drive to work hard so we can reunite as often as possible. Lastly, I want to thank my good friends from the North, whom I have met the longest, and always provide an escape to the troublesome life in the Capital.

At last, I want to thank my family for everything. In spite of the circumstances and the instances of self-doubt, they would always provide support and confidence to keep pushing forward. Thank you very much. To my mother, my father, my godfather, my grandmother, my godmother, my cousin and my sister, of course.

ABSTRACT

Neurological disorders, in particular Stroke, have an impact on many individuals worldwide. These individuals are often left with residual motor control in their upper limbs. Although conventional therapy can aid in recovery, it is not always accessible, and the procedures are dull for the patient. Novel methods of therapy are being developed, including Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs). Although BCI research has been flourishing in the past few years, most rehabilitation applications are not yet suitable for clinical practice. This is due to the fact that BCI reliability and validation has not yet been achieved, and few clinical trials have been done with BCIs. Another crucial factor, is that modern BCIs are often comprised of inconvenient hardware and software. This is a major factor of aversion from both patients and clinicians.

This Master Dissertation introduces the *EmotivBCI*: an easy to use platform for Electroencephalogram acquisition, processing and classification of sensorimotor rhythms with respect to motor action and motor imagery. The acquisition of EEG is done through 8 channels of the *Emotiv Epoc* wireless headset. Signals are pre-processed, and the 2 best combinations of channel/frequency pairs that exhibit the greatest spectral variation between the rest and action conditions are extracted for different time frames. These features are then used to build a feature matrix with 2 sets of attributes and 2 class labels. Finally the resulting feature matrix is used to train 3 different classifiers, in which the best is selected. The EmotivBCI enables users to keep record of their performances, and provides additional features to further examine training sessions. To assess the performance of the EmotivBCI, two studies were conducted with healthy individuals. The first study compares classification accuracies between two different training paradigms. The second study evaluates the progress in performance of a group of individuals after several training sessions.

Keywords: Brain-Computer Interface, Emotiv, Neurorehabilitation, Signal Processing, Feature Extraction and Classification, Stroke.

Resumo

As doenças neurológicas, em particular o acidente vascular cerebral (AVC), têm um impacto em muitos indivíduos por todo o mundo. Alguns indivíduos ficam com controlo residual dos membros superiores. A terapia convencional ajuda a recuperar algum do movimento perdido, mas nem sempre é acessível e os procedimentos são monótonos. Novos métodos de terapia estão a ser desenvolvidos, incluindo Interfaces Cérebro-Computador (BCIs). A Investigação nesta área tem vindo a aumentar nos últimos anos, mas as aplicações relacionadas com reabilitação ainda não estão adequadas para a prática clínica. As BCIs ainda não alcançaram até à data um nível aceitável de confiança, além de que poucos estudos clínicos foram conduzidos. Outro factor crucial, é que BCIs modernos são compostos por equipamento e programas complexos, causando aversão por parte dos doentes e clínicos.

Esta Dissertação de Mestrado apresenta o *EmotivBCI*: Uma plataforma prática de aquisição, processamento e classificação de sinais de electroencefalografia (EEG), baseada em ritmos senso-motores com respeito a acção motora e imagética motora. A aquisição de EEG é feita a partir de 8 canais do equipamento wireless *Emotiv Epoc*. Os sinais são pré-processados e as duas combinações do par canal/frequência que exibem a maior variação espectral entre a condição de descanso e acção são extraídas em diferentes intervalos temporais. Estas características são depois usadas para construir uma matriz com dois conjuntos de atributos e duas classes. Finalmente, a matriz é usada para treinar três classificadores diferentes, do qual o melhor é seleccionado. O EmotivBCI permite aos utilizadores manter um registo do seu desempenho e tem funções adicionais de análise. Para avaliar o desempenho do EmotivBCI foram conduzidos dois estudos com indivíduos saudáveis: o primeiro estudo compara a precisão de classificações entre dois paradigmas de treino e o segundo estudo avalia o progresso no desempenho de um grupo de indivíduos após várias sessões de treino.

Palavras-chave: Interface Cérebro-Computador, Emotiv, EEG, Neuro-reabilitação, Imagética motora, Processamento de Sinal, Extracção de características e Classificação, AVC.

CONTENTS

Li	ist of	Figures	5	xvii	
List of Tables				xix	
G	lossa	ry		xxi	
1	Intr	oductio	on	1	
	1.1	Motiv	vation and Context	. 1	
		1.1.1	Stroke	. 1	
		1.1.2	Conventional Stroke Therapy	. 2	
		1.1.3	Outlook of Stroke Therapy	. 3	
		1.1.4	BCIs in Rehabilitation	. 6	
	1.2	Objec	tives	. 8	
	1.3	Disse	rtation Overview	. 9	
2	Background			11	
	2.1	Nervo	ous System and the Brain	. 11	
		2.1.1	Cerebral Cortex	. 12	
		2.1.2	Neurons	. 12	
		2.1.3	Neuroplasticity	. 13	
2.2 Electroencephalogram (EEG)		oencephalogram (EEG)	. 14		
		2.2.1	Desynchronization of Sensorimotor Rhythms	. 15	
	2.3	Brain	-Computer Interface	. 16	
		2.3.1	BCI: Synchronous and Asynchronous interfaces	. 17	
		2.3.2	BCI: Invasive and non-Invasive	. 17	
		2.3.3	Performance of BCI systems	. 17	
	2.4	Signa	l Processing and Feature Extraction	. 18	
		2.4.1	Artefact Reduction	. 19	
		2.4.2	Power Spectral Density	. 20	
	2.5	Classi	ification Algorithms	. 21	
		2.5.1	Naïve Bayes	. 21	
		2.5.2	Gaussian Support Vector Machine	. 21	
		2.5.3	Decision Tree	. 22	

3	Dev	elopme	ent of EmotivBCI	23	
	3.1	Overv	iew	23	
		3.1.1	Materials	24	
		3.1.2	Getting Started	26	
	3.2	Trainir	ng Session	26	
		3.2.1	Training options	27	
		3.2.2	Training paradigms	27	
	3.3	Proces	sing Cascade	27	
		3.3.1	Signal Processing	28	
		3.3.2	Feature Extraction	29	
		3.3.3	Feature Matrix Construction	29	
		3.3.4	Classification	30	
	3.4	Other	Features	31	
		3.4.1	Online BCI - Real-time Testing	31	
		3.4.2	Generate Feature Map	32	
		3.4.3	Generate Channel PSD	32	
		3.4.4	Generate Classification Data	32	
		3.4.5	Miscellaneous	32	
	3.5	Emotiv	vBCI: Wrap-up	33	
4	A			25	
4	ASS	Te alt E		35	
	4.1	Lask F	1. Training Data diam 1 Van Training Data diam 2	33 26	
	4.2	Study	1: Training Paradigm 1 vs. Training Paradigm 2	30	
		4.2.1	Motor Action Results and Analysis	30	
	4.0	4.2.2	Motor Imagery Results and Analysis	37	
	4.5	Study		39	
	4.4	Miscel	laneous Analysis	43	
	4.5	Discus	sion	45	
5	Con	clusion		47	
	5.1	Future	Developments	48	
		5.1.1	Emotiv headset and Hardware	48	
		5.1.2	Signal Processing	49	
		5.1.3	Visual Interface and Visual Stimuli	49	
		5.1.4	Further tests and validation	50	
	5.2	Outpu	ts	50	
Bi	bliog	raphy		51	
Α	Emo	EmotivBCI User Guide			
	A.1	Getting	g started	67	
	A.2	Regist	ering and Logging in	67	

A.3	New 7	Fraining Session 67
	A.3.1	Training Session Performance 68
	A.3.2	Generate Feature Map
	A.3.3	Generate Channel Power Spectral Density
	A.3.4	Generate Classifier Data
	A.3.5	Online BCI
A.4	Usefu	l commands
DEI		

В	REHAB 2015: Development of a non-invasive Brain Computer Interface f	
	Neurorehabilitation	71

LIST OF FIGURES

1.1	Conventional BCI system.	8
2.1	Diagrammatic representation of 10-20 electrode settings for 75 electrodes.	
	Adapted from [94].	14
2.2	Block Diagram of a BCI system.	16
3.1	Visual representation of the EmotivBCI and the main features it comprises.	23
3.2	The Emotiv Epoc: hardware and electrode positions. Adapted from [112]	24
3.3	Class diagram of the EmotivBCI.	25
3.4	Adjustment of electrodes from the standard Emotiv position	26
3.5	Diagram of the Feature Extraction processing cascade	28
3.6	Diagram of the Feature Matrix construction.	30
3.7	Features of the EmotivBCI	31
4.1	Study 1: Box plot analysis between TP-1 and TP-2 for Motor Action	37
4.2	Study 1: Box plot analysis between TP-1 and TP-2 for Motor Imagery	39
4.3	Study 2: Motor Action classification accuracies of 4 subjects over 3 training	
	sessions	39
4.4	Study 2: Motor Imagery classification accuracies of 4 subjects over 3 training	
	sessions	40
4.5	Study 2: Average subject performance over the 3 training sessions	40
4.6	Performance with respect to training option for both studies	43
4.7	Performance with respect to mood	43
4.8	Results from survey.	44
4.9	Pie chart of classifier usage.	44

LIST OF TABLES

3.1	Description of functions developed in Matlab	25
3.2	Comparison between TP-1 and TP-2.	27
4.1	Study 1: Motor Action Classifications between TP-1 and TP-2 for 4 subjects.	37
4.2	Study 1: Motor Imagery Classifications between TP-1 and TP-2 for 4 subjects.	38
4.3	Study 2 - Motor Action classification accuracies across 3 training sessions for 4	
	subjects	42
4.4	Study 2 - Motor Imagery classification accuracies across 3 training sessions for	
	4 subjects	42

GLOSSARY

- ALS Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis.
- BCI Brain-Computer Interface.
- CNS Central Nervous System.
- **DT** Decision Tree.
- ECoG Electrocorticogram.
- EEG Electroencephalogram.
- EMG Electromyography.
- ERD/ERS Event-Related Desynchronization/ Event-Related Synchronization.
- FES Functional Electrical Stimulation.
- fMRI Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging.
- MEG Magnetoencephalogram.
- **NB** Naïve Bayes.
- PNS Peripheral Nervous System.
- **PSD** Power Spectral Density.
- SCI Spinal Chord Injury.
- **SVM** Support Vector Machine.
- **VR** Virtual Reality.

CHAPTER

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Motivation and Context

In the past, the idea of carrying actions only through the power of the mind was thought of absurd, even preposterous. However, about fifty years ago, a revolutionary idea was proposed, in which brain signals could be captured to trigger actions [1]. The idea showed promise, but the equipment and technology weren't appropriate at the time to show conclusive results. It has been in the past twenty years that more attention has been drown to Brain-Computer interfaces and their applications in gaming and entertainment, but above all else in Rehabilitation [2]–[4].

A Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) is a system that enables brain activity to manipulate external devices. The range of applications of BCIs is extraordinarily wide, going all the way from leisure to rehabilitation, with hybrids of both in between [5]–[9]. The scope of this work focuses mainly on neurorehabilitation. There is a significant number of disabled people worldwide that have lost function of one limb, or the ability to walk or speak due to neurological disorders. Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) and Spinal Chord Injury (SCI) are prime examples of such disorders.

This section, however, will focus on one disorder that has the greatest impact worldwide: Stroke. Moreover, conventional methods of therapy will be discussed followed by a look at the future direction of these methods. Finally, the role of BCIs in stroke rehabilitation will be addressed, including what aspects need to be improved in order to make BCIs a legitimate rehabilitation tool in the future.

1.1.1 Stroke

Stroke is the second largest cause of death in the world and is also one of the leading causes of disability in adults [10], [11]. In the United States approximately 795000 people

are affected every year [12]. In Portugal, from 2007 to 2011, the record of deceased people due to stroke was over 68500 [13];

Stroke, or cerebro-vascular accident (CVA), is defined as the abrupt onset of a non convulsive and focal neurologic deficit. There is a deep categorization of stroke types, but they fall under two main ones: *Ischemic* stroke or *Hemorrhagic* stroke. Cerebral ischemia can be caused by reduction in blood flow (hypoperfusion), by blockage of a blood vessel via thrombosis or arterial embolism. In the case of hypoperfusion, when blood flow is finally restored within several seconds to a few minutes then the symptoms are said to be transient. If hypoperfusion lasts more than a few minutes then *infaction*, or death of brain tissue, can occur. Cerebral hemorrhage is characterized by the accumulation of blood within neural structures [14].

The occurrence of stroke is characterized by several risk factors, some that are fixed, others that are modified[15], [16]. Examples of fixed risk factors are:

- Old age.
- Diabetes.
- Arterial fibrillation.

Modifiable risk factors include:

- High blood pressure.
- Tobacco smoking.

One of the most common non-hemorrhagic stroke is the *middle cerebral artery* stroke, which mainly affects the upper limb. Although available rehabilitation therapies help the limb regain some function, many individuals are still left with chronic hand paralysis [17]–[19]. It can also result in speech formulation or visual impairment due to the malfunction in the brain where the stroke occurred [10], [20]. Treatment to recover lost function is termed Stroke rehabilitation. The following section will discuss some conventional techniques and procedures to rehabilitate lost limb function due to Stroke.

1.1.2 Conventional Stroke Therapy

Recovery from stroke is a rather complex process that is thought to occur through the combination of spontaneous and learning-dependent processes [21], [22]:

- Restitution: Restoration of functionality of damaged neural tissue.
- Substitution: Reorganization of neural pathways to relearn lost functions.
- Compensation: Patient improves other skills to meet demands of their environment.

Stroke recovery and treatment depend on the individual, and has to be carefully assessed by specialists. The participation in formal rehabilitative therapy has been shown to improve stroke patients' ability over time. However, not all patients have access to therapy because of geographic or socio-economic status [23]–[25]. There are different types of strokes that lead to different consequences. Patients that are unable to walk and require more human assistance and are more dependent in other self-care tasks are often admitted in hospitals. If patients have a certain degree of self-care, therapy is carried at home simply to refine the skills that can improve their functional independence at home and community where they live [21]. There are specific therapists for the different skills that need to be improved. Some of these can be physical, occupational and speech therapists [10], [23]. Their role is to promote the practice of specific tasks that are important to the recovery of the patient. They do this by setting realistic goals within the limitations of residual reflexive and voluntary neural control. Moreover, they plan a regimen of daily skills practice of progressive intensity and difficulty [23], [26].

Therapy for upper limb disabilities vary depending on severity [10]. The therapy for the hemiparetic arm or hand involves at an early stage the attempted movement of single joints, and then it proceeds to more complex, multi-joint actions [23]. Finally, the patient engages in task-specific movements, known as *shaping*, which could be the grasping of a coffee cup [23]. Another popular technique is called constraint-induced movement therapy (CIMT) [27], and it consists of restraining the unaffected limb to promote the use of the affected one. This can ultimately lead to faster and improved movement of the affected limb.

The previous mentioned interventions have shown to be efficient only in patients that have a high enough degree of residual control in their affected limbs. For patients that have very weak hand movement and control, other methods of therapy are applied. These mainly consist of the use of commercially available forearm-hand orthotic devices with functional electric stimulation that can enable the grasping of the hand or finger pinch [23], [28], [29]. Mechanical devices are currently used as a supplement to standard care, and they have shown to be beneficial [30]. However, standard therapies with equivalent intensity can achieve the same outcome, and the use of these devices is more of a luxury, since they are generally expensive [23]. Ongoing research focuses on the use of mechanical devices with other rehabilitative therapies like non-invasive brain stimulation to achieve a higher efficacy in rehabilitation of patients after stroke [23].

1.1.3 Outlook of Stroke Therapy

As mentioned before, stroke therapy is highly specialized for a given patient and the severity of his condition. The neuronal mechanisms behind stroke recovery are still poorly understood, however, research in this field is prominent. It's a matter of time until the scientific community reaches conclusive results, which will result in better rehabilitation planning and consequently in better patient recovery.

Ideally, stroke therapy should rely less on therapists, and more on technology to achieve the same end. This is mainly due to the high number of stroke patients in comparison to the limited number of therapists [23], [24], [31]. Therapy itself should also be more engaging to the patient, instead of the conventional dull exercises. Motivation and engagement have been shown to be an important aspect in recovery success [32]–[34]. Fortunately, new approaches to therapy have surfaced in the last decade that have helped face this challenges.

The following sections will address a few of the new facets of stroke therapy, namely Virtual Reality (VR), Robotics and Functional Electrical Stimulation (FES). Finally, the current, and future, role of BCIs in stroke rehabilitation will be discussed, addressing its advantages and limitations.

1.1.3.1 Virtual Reality

Although Virtual Reality (VR) is often associated with gaming and entertainment, it has shown promise in helping to rehabilitate stroke patients [35], [36]. VR is a computer interface that allows individuals to interact with a three-dimensional (3D) environment by presenting simulated or artificially generated sensory information [37]. This interaction is made possible by the movement of the user/patient, which is captured through proper motion tracking equipment.

There are two main types of VR: *Immersive* and *Nonimmersive*. Immersion VR is characterized by the environment being viewed using a head-mounted display (HMD) with tracking systems [37]. This makes the user feel like he is within the virtual environment, with all the images being updated according to the movement of the user's head. Sometimes this results in what is called *simulator sickness*. Nonimmersive VR can be viewed in a computer monitor which projects a wide field of view, giving the perception of looking through a window. There are a variety of devices that allow interaction with the VR environment like data gloves, joysticks and force feedback technology [37].

The main focus of a VR rehabilitation system is to simulate real world tasks into a virtual platform so that stroke patients with motor impairments can practice such tasks safely and transfer the performance of the virtual task onto the real world. One example stated by Glendinning et al. [37] consisted of mailing an envelope into a "mailbox slot". The patient did this by matching the hand trajectory that was presented in the virtual environment, performing the delivery. Another forthcoming application involving a VR system is driving simulators. This will allow patients to practice safe driving trips, while the therapist can oversee and grade the task. There are plenty other applications and real-world task related activities being simulated on VR systems [38], [39].

Although VR systems show a lot of potential, there are still some factors that hinder its usage in clinical practice. Some virtual tasks, if not properly implemented may not help patients in the long run, and may actually delay recovery. Also, clinicians may be interested in developing specific programs, but so far it is time consuming and requires a high degree of expertise to develop such programs in a VR environment. Moreover, older people may have some reluctance in utilizing this technology [40]. All of these drawbacks, however, can be overcome in the future after further research and assessment. Ultimately VR can provide a cost-effective way of rehabilitation for patients with motor impairments, being convenient for both the patients and the therapist.

1.1.3.2 Robotics

Robotic systems have an important role in the rehabilitation of patients with stroke. Budget cuts and a limited number of physical therapists have propelled the development of new technologies to provide the same intensity of rehabilitation sessions to stroke patients [31]. Robot training can provide therapists the tools to increase productivity of training sessions, maintaining the same quality of care [41].

There is a deep categorization for upper limb robotic systems. There are robots designed for shoulder, elbow, wrist, and hand movement. According to their mechanical characteristics, robotic systems can be classified into *Exoskeletons* and *End-effectors* [31]. *Exoskeletons* have robot axes aligned with the anatomical axes of the user. They provide direct control of individual joints, which can correct abnormal posture and movement. *End-effector* type devices work by applying mechanical movement to the distal segments of the limbs. Even though they are easy to set-up, they offer limited control of proximal joints of the limb, and can result in abnormal movement patterns [42].

The use of robotic systems for rehabilitation has positively influenced the motor outcome of upper limbs in patients with stroke [41]. Their main advantage is that they can provide therapy for long periods of time, in a very consistent and precise manner. They can be designed to perform almost any type of functional therapy. This is highly beneficial for both the patient and the therapist, who has more time to assist other patients, without jeopardizing their rehabilitation process [31].

Ongoing research of robotic technology for neurorehabititation focus not only on enhancing their efficacy, but also in reducing the cost of these devices [42]. It is unlikely that robotic systems will ever replace therapists, but they have proven to be a useful support in the rehabilitation of stroke patients.

1.1.3.3 Functional Electrical Stimulation

Functional electrical stimulation, or FES, is a novel treatment that can be used to help chronic stroke patients with motor impairments to improve motor function [43]–[46]. FES consists in using electrical currents for stimulating nerves connected to the paralysed muscles with precise sequence and magnitude in order to emulate a real nervous impulse and facilitate movement of a paretic muscle. The frequency range of FES is between 10 and 50 Hz, and it directly stimulates nerves rather than muscle fibers [47]. The combination of FES and manual assistance allows the patient to feel and execute the desired muscle contractions and the associated arm motion [48].

There are several upper extremity FES devices available and the use of these devices have shown to have a positive effect in stroke therapy, specially when administered within the first 6 months after onset [46], [49]. The improvements in motor function due to FES have been attributed to a better ability of patients to voluntarily contract impaired muscles. Reduced spasticity, improved muscle tone in stimulated muscles and increase in joint range of motion were also resulting factors of FES therapy [46].

Besides the discussed functional effects, FES is believed to facilitate neural plasticity by increasing the strength of afferent inputs [49]. FES therapy can be even more advantageous when complemented with other therapies and devices. Particularly, FES used simultaneously with an EMG sensor as feedback, has shown that it can promote motor learning [49]. Thus, patients can actively participate in intensive and repetitive task-specific training, which is essential for recovery. The neural mechanisms underlying improvement in sensorimotor function by FES are still not fully understood [48].

1.1.4 BCIs in Rehabilitation

Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) are emerging as a novel tool for rehabilitation therapy. There is growing interest and curiosity, not only restricted to the scientific community, but the public in general that soon this technology may improve the lives of many disabled people all over the world [50]. The primary goal of BCI technology is to establish a direct communication pathway between the brain and external devices, thereby enabling faster and more intuitive communication and control for individuals with motor disabilities caused by neurological disorders, namely stroke [51]. BCIs differ from the methods mentioned in the previous sections in that they can modulate brain signals to control an interface, without the need for users to execute any kind of muscular activity. In the Background Chapter (Chapter 2) a deeper review of how a BCI works will be presented.

A large number of BCI applications from varying complexity have been developed [50]. From basic control of cursors being displayed on a computer screen [52]–[54] to robotic arms [55], prosthesis [56] and even wheelchairs [57], [58]. Depending on the application of the BCI, different neural-recording techniques can be used. These include microelectrode recording of a single neuron activity [59], [60], Electrocorticogram (ECoG) [61], [62], Electroencephalogram (EEG) [63], Magnetoencephalogram (MEG) [64] and Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI) [65], all of which have their own advantages and drawbacks. For example, a BCI that serves as an assistive device would benefit from being highly portable, implantable, and capable of recording highly specific neural activity from a certain cortical area. In this sense, a micro-ECoG has the capability to decode hand movements in order to provide control signals for prosthetic hands or functional electrical stimulator to restore function of impaired limbs, enabling a user to easily perform basic daily tasks, that were difficult, or even impossible, before [51]. For BCIs that serve more as rehabilitation tools than assistive devices, portability is not so crucial, but they should be non-invasive and practical [50], [51], [66].

The main principle behind the use of BCI as a rehabilitation tool is that it can induce cortical plasticity by training through feedback [50], [51], [67]. When subjects are trained to operate a BCI system, visual or other sensory feedback is presented to subjects in real-time. Over time, subjects improve their performance in controlling the BCI system, and this is correlated with an enhanced modulation of the recorded brain signals. Moreover, there is evidence that combining BCI with functional electrical stimulation (FES) or assistive robotics may aid motor relearning in stroke patients [55], [68].

In particular, some research groups are focused on the feasibility and effectiveness of BCI systems that combine action observation and motor imagery to enhance neuroplasticity and facilitate motor recovery of disabled patients [69]–[71]. In essence, both action observation and motor imagery can induce a certain degree of motor cortical activity, even in the absence of actual movement. This way, BCI systems could better optimize their decoding algorithm to extract motor-related information from the patient's cortical activity, therefore allowing them to intuitively learn how to control and operate the BCI. Ultimately, the enhanced performance of the patient would translate into an improvement in motor function recovery, while keeping the patient engaged through real-time feedback of his or her actions. Additionally, BCI systems can also be used as a monitoring tool. Clinicians can monitor the level of attention directed towards the different tasks and the level of inter-hemispheric balance, which is an indicator of stroke recovery [67].

In spite of the groundbreaking achievements of BCI research, most of the applications are still limited to public demonstrations and laboratory settings [50]. Most studies and gathered data are often from healthy individuals or animals, and studies with disabled people have been limited to a few trials, closely supervised by research personnel. The use of BCI technology in a clinical setting is just beginning.

1.1.4.1 Current Limitations of BCIs in Rehabilitation

Shih et al. [50] clearly elaborates the three major areas that need improvement in order for BCIs to become a legitimate rehabilitation tool in the future. Summarily, they are:

- 1. Development of comfortable, convenient and stable signal-acquisition hardware;
- 2. BCI validation and dissemination;
- 3. Proven BCI reliability and adaptable for different user populations;

In fact, current BCI applications contain a high degree of technicality, that most clinicians and patients are not comfortable with. Also, current non-invasive BCIs are comprised of inconvenient and expensive hardware that takes a long time to set up and is not suitable for clinical settings. In the perspective of the patient there are also some aspects that need improvement. Most non-invasive BCIs use non-practical acquisition systems. These are generally electrode caps, which require conducting gel, and are comprised of one or more wires (Figure 1.1). Besides being a gruelling task putting it on and making sure all the electrodes are aligned, they are aesthetically displeasing and mildly uncomfortable. The present dissertation presents a new BCI prototype which tackles some of these drawbacks by using a commercially available wireless EEG headset: *Emotiv EPOC*. As this prototype undergoes further development, it may potentially become part of a clinical rehabilitation system in the future.



Figure 1.1: Conventional BCI system comprised of wired electrode cap and amplifier. Adapted from [1].

1.2 Objectives

This project has been conducted at the Instituto de Biofísica e Engenharia Biomédica and it consists of a **proof-of-concept non-invasive Brain-Computer Interface**: **EmotivBCI**.

The EmotivBCI is a simple, yet robust, BCI platform for EEG acquisition, processing and classification of sensorymotor rhythmical activity in the central to frontal cortex of the brain with respect to motor action and motor imagery of the upper limbs: in particular the Left and Right hands. The signal acquisition is done through the commercially available EEG headset: *Emotiv Epoc*. Moreover, the EmotivBCI provides additional features to analyse acquired data, and keeps record of users' performances.

In this Dissertation two studies will be presented to provide a general assessment of the EmotivBCI. The first aims at comparing two different training paradigms, and the second study aims at analysing the evolution in performance of a particular set of users after several sessions of training using the EmotivBCI.

The objective of this Master Dissertation is to provide the foundation of what can become a new methodology for rehabilitation of patients with motor impairment, after Stroke or other neurodegenerative disorders.

1.3 Dissertation Overview

The present dissertation is structured as follows:

- **Chapter 1:** Presents the motivation and context behind the topic, followed by the objectives and outline of this dissertation.
- **Chapter 2:** Provides the general background on the concepts that are closely tied to the scope of this dissertation.
- **Chapter 3:** Introduces the EmotivBCI and describes the materials and methods used to develop it.
- **Chapter 4:** Presents two different studies that were conducted to assess the performance of the EmotivBCI and summarizes relevant results.
- Chapter 5: States the conclusion and the direction of future work.



BACKGROUND

The field of Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) embraces a myriad of different scientific areas ranging from brain physiology to electronic hardware and signal processing algorithms. Throughout this chapter, the most relevant concepts surrounding the scope of this dissertation will be reviewed. It will start by introducing the Human Nervous system, the Brain, and one of its most fundamental properties: Neuroplasticity. Next, the most common non-invasive technique to assess brain activity will be discussed, the EEG. Particular attention will be given to sensorimotor rhythms in the cerebral cortex, which is detected by EEG and that is tightly correlated to motor activity and motor planning. Finally, a detailed review of Brain-Computer Interfaces will be provided, as well as Signal Processing, Feature Extraction and Classification techniques which are an integral part of this project.

2.1 Nervous System and the Brain

The nervous system is responsible for communicating and processing information from the various body parts. It is divided into the Central Nervous System (CNS), which consists of the brain and the spinal chord, and the Peripheral Nervous System (PNS), which connects the brain and spinal cord to all the body organs and sensory systems. These systems work closely together since the sensory input from the PNS is processed by the CNS, and the responses are sent back by the PNS to the organs of the body. There is another important distinction within the nervous system based on functionality. The *somatic* nervous system and the *autonomic* nervous system. The somatic nervous system controls muscle activity in response to conscious commands and relays physical sensations. On the other hand, the autonomic nervous system regulates activities that are beyond conscious control, like cardiac activity. The autonomatic nervous system is further divided into the *sympathetic* and *parasympathetic* nervous system which dominate during physical activity and relaxation respectively [72].

2.1.1 Cerebral Cortex

From all the parts that compose the CNS, the cerebral cortex is by far the most important. Different regions of the cortex are responsible for processing different functions, such as sensation, learning, voluntary movement, speech and perception. The cortex is the outermost layer of the cerebrum and has a thickness of 2-3 mm. The cortical surface is characterized by having multiple ridges and valleys of different sizes that increase the neuronal area, which is comprised of about 10 billion neurons [72].

The cortex is separated by a deep sagittal fissure, called the *central sulcus*, into two symmetrical hemispheres: left and right. Each hemisphere is further divided into four lobes: the frontal, temporal, parietal and occipital lobes [72], [73].

The motor cortex, located in the frontal lobe, is the main responsible for voluntary movement. Sensory information is processed in other parts of the remaining lobes [73].

2.1.2 Neurons

The building block of the nervous system is a specific type of cell called *neuron*. Neurons are insulated, supported and nourished by another type of cells, called *Glia* [74]. There are many different types of neurons that differ in morphology and function, but the main types are *sensory neurons, motor neurons* and *interneurons* [72]. These are composed of a body, denominated *soma*, in which two structures extend: the *dendrites* and *axon*. The dendrites are the extension of a nerve cell, in the form of a branch that carries impulses to the cell body. The axon is the long projection of a nerve cell that conducts impulses from the cell body to other cells. The transmission of information from neuron to neuron takes place at the junction where a terminal part of the axon contacts another neuron, the *synapse*. The information is passed across neurons in the form of electrical impulses, which propagate along the axon membrane through ion-gated channel mechanisms [74].

2.1.2.1 Mirror neurons

Recently a new and special kind of neurons have been first found in monkeys and later in humans, called *Mirror Neurons* [75]. These are a particular kind of neurons that discharge not only when an individual performs an action, but also when he or she observes a similar action done by another individual [75]. The existence of mirror neurons was demonstrated in humans using non-invasive methods. It has been shown that other people's action triggers the activation of several cerebral regions. EEG studies showed that mere observation triggers the desynchronization of cortical motor rhythms, with less intensity than during active movement [76]. The EEG and sensorimotor rhythms will be discussed a few sections below.

These findings opened a new pathway for treatment of stroke patients, using mirror therapy and motion imagery. The idea behind it is that coupling motor imagery from the patient, meanwhile observing actual movement from another individual or segments of their own body, will promote the recruitment of mirror neurons and cortical reorganization that can reactivate motor neurons, resulting in the subsequent learning of new motor skills [77]. This is still a premature field, but the application of mirror therapies has shown good results when combined with other therapies showing promise in the better recovery of post-stroke patients [77], [78].

This is a key idea for the future of BCI rehabilitation techniques. Although the present project does not yet incorporate visual stimulus, it is a feature that is deemed essential in the future.

2.1.3 Neuroplasticity

The Central Nervous System (CNS) has a fundamental property that is responsible for its normal functioning, and how it responds to injury: **Plasticity** [79]–[81]. In simple terms, plasticity can be defined as the brain's capacity to adapt to changing circumstances throughout the lifespan of any individual. More specifically, it comprises all the structural and functional changes in the nervous system that occur due to a myriad of actions and experience of any individual [80].

The nervous system is dynamic, and it is constantly modifying associations among neuronal elements in response to changing stimuli and learning [73]. There are multiple complex mechanisms that mediate plasticity, including changes in synaptic strength, axon sprouting, neurogenesis, unmasking of latent neural assemblies and modulation of inhibitory circuits [49], [82]. All these processes occur in accordance to homoeostatic balance. In neurological disorders, this balance shifts in favour of plastic changes, resulting in the reorganization of network connectivity [49], [80], [83].

Practice is an underlying factor for the acquisition of motor skills. It's through repetition that movements are executed faster and more accurately [84]. Several animal studies have shown that motor learning leads to neuroplastic changes [81], [85], more specifically to long term potentiation in the primary motor cortex, also referred to as M1 [84]. Through non-invasive techniques, the same kind of neuroplastic changes after motor learning have been suggested in humans [84].

Motor Imagery (MI), can promote motor learning, through mirror neurons, as discussed before. Moreover, recent studies have shown that MI increases M1 excitability, resulting in motor learning by mental practice [84], [86], [87]. In other words, motor learning can be achieved by MI practice, leading to the development of neuroplasticity in the human primary cortex (M1). This knowledge can facilitate the development of pioneering techniques for neurorehabilitation.

All the mechanisms associated with neuroplasticity, and how they behave after injury of the CNS, like stroke, are still subjects under much research [22], [88]. Although animal studies have helped demistifying some of their behavioral patterns, it's more difficult, for ethnic reasons, to apply the same methodology in humans. Studies conducted with

stroke patients, however, have shown that there is an optimal time frame of two to three months after injury where neuroplastic changes are more accentuated [85], [88], [89]. Therefore rehabilitation strategies should focus on this time window to capitalize on optimal plasticity recovery.

2.2 Electroencephalogram (EEG)

Electroencephalograms (EEGs) are recordings of electrical potentials produced in the brain with high temporal resolution. The EEG is able to record rhythmic electrical activity from the human scalp, and it is mainly used in clinical settings to detect pathologies and epilepsies. It can also be used in research facilities to quantify and evaluate effects of new pharmacologic agents [90]. In the past, the EEG was analysed visually by a specialized individual, but with the advancement of technology, there are now computerized and more efficient methods of quantifying EEG changes. New methods for analysing EEGs are emerging on a regular basis [91]–[93], resulting in a better understanding of how the brain works.

EEG acquisition systems vary in quality and complexity, but a basic system consists of electrodes, amplifiers and respective filters, and lastly a recording device. The signal obtained from the EEG comes from the potential changes over time between a signal electrode and a reference electrode. Unlike other biosignal measurements like the Electrocardiogram (ECG), the readings from the EEG are relatively more abstract and harder to interpret at the naked eye. This is due to the spontaneous neuronal activity in the brain that is recorded at the level of the scalp. The signal from the EEG is highly dependent on the positioning of the electrodes in the scalp. A slight misplacement may completely fail to detect certain patterns. To establish some consensus between the scientific community, a 10-20 electrode placement (Figure 2.1) system was adopted [90].



Figure 2.1: Diagrammatic representation of 10–20 electrode settings for 75 electrodes. Adapted from [94].
An EEG is mainly characterized by frequency and amplitude. These are highly diverse and depend mainly on the mental state of the subject [90]. The amplitude of the EEG is related to the degree of synchrony with which the cortical neurons interact, so a high amplitude signal is produced by a synchronous excitation of a group of neurons [74]. The frequency, or the oscillatory rate, of an EEG is partially sustained by the input activity from the thalamus. This part of the brain has neurons which possess pacemaker properties, so they have the ability to generate a self-sustained rhythmic firing pattern. Coordinated interactions between cortical neurons in specific regions of the cortex can also induce a rhythmic behaviour. Rhythms that have a high-frequency and low amplitude reflect an active brain (alertness or dream sleep). Low frequency and large amplitude rhythms are, on the other hand, associated with drowsiness and nondreaming sleep states [74], [90].

2.2.1 Desynchronization of Sensorimotor Rhythms

Two particular rhythms found in the central region of the frontal cortex are associated with sensorimotor activity: *Mu rhythm* (7-13 Hz) and *Beta rhythm* (15-30 Hz) [95], [96]. The planning and execution of limb movement has been shown to attenuate the spectral power in these frequencies. This phenomenon is designated **Event-Related Desynchronization** (ERD). Going from movement back to an idle state, the amplitude of the spectral power in these frequencies increase back to its previous intensity i.e. **Event-Related Synchronization** (ERS) [96], [97]. Event-Related Desynchronization / Event-Related Synchronization (ERD/ERS) phenomena have also been observed during motor imagery and action observation [98], [99].

It has been demonstrated for quite a while that any given limb is mainly controlled by the contralateral hemisphere of the brain. Similarly, ERD/ERS is often stronger in the contralateral hemisphere of the brain as well. There is also some degree of activation on the other hemisphere also i.e. ipsilateral, which can be observed through imaging techniques and ERD/ERS. This knowledge makes it possible to detect the intention of moving each of the limbs, even if one hemisphere of the brain is lesioned.

ERD/ERS of sensorimotor rhythms, caused by motor imagery or actual movement can sometimes be difficult to observe in the EEG due to several factors. In particular, signal processing algorithms have to be efficient at capturing this change, while disregarding possible unwanted artefacts. Also, motor imagery detection depends greatly on the user's capacity to produce valid signals. Moreover, the brain's morphology varies slightly from individual to individual, therefore electrode placement may also be a factor preventing a clear detection of ERD/ERS in EEG signals [96].

Over time, the challenges have been surpassed due to advances not only in signal processing algorithms, but also in acquisition equipment, making it extremely convenient to use ERD/ERS of *Mu* and *Beta* rhythms to develop a BCI controlled by motor imagery [95], [99], [100].

2.3 Brain-Computer Interface

The human brain is the main organ responsible for coordination and movement, through electric impulses that travel from the brain to the peripheral nerves and back. When movement loss occurs due to stroke or other neurological disorders, the electric impulses are no longer propelled correctly. However, electrical activity of the brain can be acquired through the scalp and processed to trigger actions, through a BCI. A BCI, sometimes also referred as Brain-Machine Interface (BMI), is a set of hardware and software communications system that enables humans to interact with their surroundings, without the involvement of peripheral nerves and muscles, by using control signals generated from the brain's electric activity [96].



Figure 2.2: Block Diagram of a BCI system. Adapted and modified from [72].

A conventional BCI system is comprised of five consecutive stages:

- 1. Signal acquisition;
- 2. Pre-processing or signal enhancement;
- 3. Feature extraction;
- 4. Classification;
- 5. Control interface;

The signal acquisition stage records the brain signals, and depending on the acquisition system it may also perform some noise reduction and artefact processing. The pre-processing stage enhances the signal further so it is suitable for the feature extraction stage. This stage is where discriminative information is identified in the brain signals' recording. Afterwards, the signal is mapped onto a vector containing effective and discriminant features from the observed signals. This feature vector must be of low dimension, so that fast processing can be achieved with acceptable efficiency. The classification stage classifies the signals based on the feature vectors. Finally the control interface is where the classified signals are translated into actions and commands [96]. Figure 2.2 shows a diagram with the main building blocks of a standard BCI.

2.3.1 BCI: Synchronous and Asynchronous interfaces

A BCI can be generally categorized into two main types: *Synchronous* and *Asynchronous* interfaces. A Synchronous interface analyses EEG evoked potential signal resulting from stimuli received by the user from the system [101]. These can be visual, auditory or tactile stimuli. The processing consists of detecting responses from the brain activity to the stimuli, later transforming them into commands. An Asynchronous interfaces analyses the user voluntary activity in contrast to the user receiving any stimuli. In this case, the system continuously analyses the signals from the user's brain activity and classifies the mental state periodically [96], [101].

2.3.2 BCI: Invasive and non-Invasive

BCIs are also categorized according to invasiveness [1], [96]. If the electrical activity is acquired from the surface of the scalp using the EEG they are said to be *non-invasive*. *Invasive* interfaces require the installation of electrodes inside the skull, like electrocorticogram (ECoG) [61], [62], or the implementation of electrodes directly to a neuron [59], [60]. Non-invasive interfaces have a wider range of applications, in spite of being slightly harder to analyse and process EEG data due to the abundance of undesired artefacts and low Signal-to-Noise (SNR) ratio.

2.3.3 Performance of BCI systems

As it has been described throughout this document, BCIs are a groundbreaking technology. Enabling a user to interact with his or her environment through shear mind power is only possible because of BCI systems. However, even BCIs have limitations that are fundamentally derived from their nature. The whole range of motion an individual has of his or her body is virtually impossible to achieve through a BCI because they have low dimensional control [102]. This is mainly due to the complexity of the human brain and the limitations of an EEG acquisition system. Several studies have been able to successfully distinguish between two mental conditions using non-invasive BCIs i.e. two classes [4], [103], [104]. Current research is focused on distinguishing more than two mental conditions with an acceptable efficiency, usually 3 or 4 different classes [54]. Furthermore, research groups aim at being able to distinguish different mental intentions of the same limb [102], [105], [106]. For example, distinguishing different finger movements or distinguishing different arm movements, like elbow movement and hand grasping. This is especially

more challenging, because this information reveals itself in the same regions of the brain [102]. BCIs that deal with 2 classes, for example rest condition versus imagined hand movement, classification accuracies should be higher than 70% [107]. State-of-art BCIs, however, can achieve accuracies above 90% for most test subjects with minimal training [63]. BCIs with more than two classes have accuracy ranges between 60% and 80%, with lower chance levels [102]. However, as it was mentioned before, some individuals have a greater ability to generate signals reflective of their motor imagery, therefore they can accomplish better classification accuracies. Consequently individuals that can naturally modulate their mental states can control devices more efficiently.

It's imperative for any worthy to mention BCI to have a decent acquisition system, be it EEG or any other acquisition techniques mentioned above, and also a meaningful feedback or control interface. However, it's the signal processing component of a BCI that dictates the overall performance of the BCI, including feature extraction and classification. The following section will discuss the importance of these two stages and give a brief overview of the techniques that are used to develop the current project.

2.4 Signal Processing and Feature Extraction

Signal processing and feature extraction are essential subjects in the field of BCI. As described earlier, the EEG is prone to many unwanted artefacts, and collecting valid information from it can be challenging. To acquire valid data, the equipment has to be proven efficient and the user must carefully follow the paradigms proposed. Besides, signal processing on the computer can take time, therefore analysis on real-time acquisition may be delayed and non-functional. Because of this, feature selection is a way to minimize the time and operations done while processing, by selecting only relevant portions of data. This greatly reduces processing time and makes it possible for real-time BCI applications to work.

Typically, the acquired EEG signals are pre-processed by a bandpass filter in the first stage, to obtain signals in the band of interest. Afterwards there is the feature selection phase in order to represent the vital components of the signal, or the **features**. The extracted features are then used to train a classifier in an offline phase. During the online phase, the trained classifier can identify the user's intent and output a command signal [108]. The objective of feature selection is to improve the prediction performance of the predictors, provide faster and more cost-effective predictors, and provide a better understanding of the underlying process that generated the data [109].

For a BCI to work efficiently, the mental state of the subject has to be recognized by the machine using a classifier. The optimal recognition process has to occur at high classification rates and be the least time consuming [110]. Therefore, the features and algorithms used have to simultaneously obey these two criteria. Another important aspect that should be considered is the individual particularities, such as native talent or sustained training of the user using the BCI. Classification accuracies vary significantly from user to user due to different individual cortical patterns for the same cognitive tasks [110].

There are a myriad of techniques used for processing, depending on the type of BCI and applications to be used on [111]. An extensive review of all of these techniques is beyond the scope of this project, however, all feature selection techniques and algorithms in EEG-based BCI aim at representing the EEG data in feature space, which can be later used to train the classifier [96]. The next subsections will review a few of the techniques and algorithms related to signal processing and feature extraction, which are used for the development of the proposed BCI system, the EmotivBCI.

2.4.1 Artefact Reduction

EEG signals are often contaminated with noise and artefacts. It is necessary to develop methods for detection and objective quantification of signal characteristics to minimize the influence of noise and artefacts to facilitate interpretation of relevant information [72].

One way to reduce artefacts is linear filtering. Linear, time-invariant filtering can be used for reduction of Electromyography (EMG) artefacts, and the 40/60 Hz power-line interference [72]. Filtering also allows to express a EEG signals in the frequency ranges where the relevant information is found. For example, ERD/ERS is observed in the *Mu* (7-13 Hz) and *Beta* (15-30 Hz) frequency ranges.

Although filtering can help in minimizing noise and artefacts, it is not bulletproof. Some artefacts due to muscular activity still overlap in EEG spectra.

2.4.1.1 Chebyshev Type 1 Filter

Chebyshev filters are used to separated one band of frequencies from another. The primary attribute of Chebyshev filters is their speed, since they are carried out by recursion. Unlike Butterworth filters, Chebyshev filters can maintain a constant amplitude value at cutoff frequency, which is beneficial to preserve the desired frequency content of the signal. The design of Chebyshev filters is based on a mathematical technique, the *z*-transform. The Chebyshev Type 1 Filter has the following transfer function:

$$|H_n(j\omega)| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + \varepsilon^2 T_n^2 \left(\frac{\omega}{\omega_0}\right)}}.$$
(2.1)

The ε is the ripple factor, ω_0 is the cutoff frequency, and T_n is a Chebbyshev polynomial of the *n*th order, which can be defined as:

$$T_n(x) = \begin{cases} \cos(n\cos^{-1}x) & |x| \le 1\\ \cosh(n\cosh^{-1}x) & |x| > 1 \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

2.4.2 Power Spectral Density

Considering the oscillatory behaviour of EEG rhythms, including *Mu* and *Beta*, signal decomposition in terms of sine and cosine functions is extremely convenient. The *Fourier Transform* correlates the signal with sines and cosines of different frequencies, and produces a set of coefficients that define the *power spectrum*. From this spectrum, any particular frequency band can be readily obtained. The Power Spectral Density (PSD) is a natural quantity for characterizing a stationary signal. Therefore, spectral analysis is generally applicable to EEG signals of short durations (about 10 *s*), i.e. without major temporal changes [72].

2.4.2.1 Discrete Fourier Transform

The Discrete Fourier Transform (DFT) is the equivalent of the continuous Fourier Transform for signals known only at *N* instants. The discrete-time Fourier transform (DTFT) of a signal x_n is:

$$X(k) = \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} x_n \cdot e^{-2\pi i k n/N}, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ (integers).}$$
(2.3)

The simplest power spectral density estimate is the modulus squared of the DFT, known as *Periodogram*:

$$S(k) = \frac{1}{N} |X(k)|^2 = \left| \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} x_n \cdot e^{-2\pi i k n/N} \right|^2, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ (integers).}$$
(2.4)

2.4.2.2 Welch Estimation Method

The periodogram not always produces a consistent estimate of the power spectrum. This is mainly due to the fact that the variance of the periodogram does not decrease with the number of samples. Because of this, modifications have been applied to the periodogram, which consists of *windowing* and *averaging*. These techniques aim at reducing the variance of the periodogram [72].

Windowing is an operation in which a rectangular window w(n) is applied to extract the segment of a signal that extends over a longer interval. There are different designs of windows. The most common are *Hanning*, *Hamming*, and *Blackman*. Windowing provides a trade-off between leakage and spectral resolution of the power spectrum estimate.

Variance reduction consists first of separating the signal x(n) into K non-overlapping segments of length L:

$$x_i(n) = x(n+iL), n = 0, ..., L-1, i = 0, ..., K-1.$$
 (2.5)

Then, the resulting periodograms resulting from each of the segments $x_i(n)$ is averaged. There is often a overlap between the segments. The *Welch's method* is a nonparametric spectrum estimation technique that combines both of the above mentioned techniques: Windowing and averaging:

$$S(k) = \frac{1}{KLU} \sum_{i=0}^{K-1} \left| \sum_{n=0}^{L-1} x_i(n) w(n) \cdot e^{-2\pi i k n/KL} \right|^2.$$
(2.6)

U is a normalization factor related to the characteristics of the window w(n),

$$U = \frac{1}{L} \sum_{n=0}^{L-1} w^2(n).$$
(2.7)

2.5 Classification Algorithms

The classification stage is critical to guarantee the efficiency of a BCI system. The aim of the classification step is to recognize the user's intentions with respect to a feature vector that characterizes the brain activity [96]. Classification algorithms use the features extracted as independent variables that define the boundaries between the different classes in feature space [96].

The feature vector is extracted from training trials, which are then used to train a classifier.

2.5.1 Naïve Bayes

The Naïve Bayes (NB) classifier is a probablistic algorithm based on applying the Bayes' theorem with naïve independence assumptions. The Naïve Bayes classifier can probabilistically predict the class of an unknown trial using the available training trial set to calculate the most probable output. The most probable class C_{NB} of an unknown trial with the conjunction $A = a_1, a_2, ..., a_m$ is calculated by:

$$C_{NB} = \underset{c \in C}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} p(c/A). \tag{2.8}$$

Where *m* is the number of discrete-valued features and *C* is the class.

2.5.2 Gaussian Support Vector Machine

The Support Vector Machine (SVM) classifier performs classification tasks by constructing the best hyperplane in a multidimensional space by finding the maximum possible margin, defined as:

$$f(x) = w^{\top} x + b. \tag{2.9}$$

where *w* is the weight vector, and *b* is the bias. In this case, the decision boundary defined by the hyperplane is said to be *linear*. Sometimes, non-linear classifiers provide better accuracies, depending on the input data. Support vector machines can be transformed into a non-linear method by using a non-linear *kernel function*. A kernel function defines a new

vector for a given set of data *x* by calculating the similarity between the *x* and another set of data *y*. One particular kernel function is the *Gaussian* kernel, defined as:

$$K(x,y) = exp(-\frac{\|x-y\|^2}{2 \cdot \sigma^2}).$$
(2.10)

This function takes values between 0 and 1. If x = y then k = 1. The parameter σ is the standard deviation, and it controls the width of the kernel function.

2.5.3 Decision Tree

The Decision Tree (DT) algorithm constructs a decision tree with branches and nodes based on a feature vector set. The decision tree begins with a root node r derived from whichever variable in the feature space minimizes a measure of the impurity of the two sibling nodes. The measure of the impurity at node r, denoted by im(r), is defined as follows:

$$im(r) = -\sum_{i=1}^{m} p(w_i/r) \log p(w_i/r)).$$
 (2.11)

where $p(w_i/r)$ is the proportion of patterns x_i allocated to class w_i at node r. Each noneterminal node is then divided into two further nodes, r_1 and r_2 such that p_1 , p_2 are the proportions of entities passed to new nodes r_1 , r_2 respectively. The most appropriate division is that which maximizes the difference:

$$\Delta im(d,r) = im(r) - p_1 im(r_1) - p_2 im(r_2).$$
(2.12)

The decision tree grows until a phase is reached in which there is no significant decrease in the measure of impurity when a further additional division *d* is implemented. When this phase is reached, the node *r* is not sub-divided further, and automatically becomes a terminal node. The class w_i , associated with the terminal node *r* is that which maximizes the conditional probability $p(w_i/r)$. Eventually, in testing phase, test samples are classified using the calculated optimal decision tree model.

C H A P T E R

DEVELOPMENT OF EMOTIVBCI

The present chapter will cover the development of the project that is the topic of this Master dissertation: *EmotivBCI*. A full guide of usage will be provided in Appendix A. All the methods and algorithms that are not defined in this section, have been described in the section above.

3.1 Overview

The EmotivBCI (Figure 3.1) is a proof-of-concept BCI console platform developed in C# programming language. It acquires EEG signals from 8 electrode channels in the central and frontal cortices of the brain through the commercially available EEG headset: *Emotiv Epoc*.



Figure 3.1: Visual representation of the EmotivBCI and the main features it comprises.

The acquired signals are processed and relevant features are extracted to build a classifier based on ERD/ERS due to movement or imagery of upper limbs (left and right

hands). It also implements real-time testing with the built-in classifiers. The EmotivBCI comes with a number of features, which will be described in the following sections.

3.1.1 Materials

The main core of the EmotivBCI is the software that was developed on the computer. For that, several other programs were used, which will be mentioned below.

3.1.1.1 Emotiv Epoc

The *Emotiv Epoc* is a wireless headset equipped with 14 sensors, and two reference channels (Figure 3.2). Prior to its usage, the electrode pads have to be moisturized with a saline solution. The battery duration is about 12 hours. The raw data from the headset can be accessed from the supplied SDK¹ [112].



(a) Emotiv Epoc wireless headset.

(b) Emotiv Epoc standard electrode placement.

Figure 3.2: The Emotiv Epoc: hardware and electrode positions. Adapted from [112].

The Emotiv Epoc internally samples at a frequency of 2048 Hz, and then it is downsampled to 128 Hz. Moreover, the data is pre-processed in the hardware, with a low-pass filter with cutoff frequency at 85 Hz, a high-pass filter with cutoff at 0.16 Hz and a notch filter at 50 Hz and 60 Hz. The signal is then available through the API² [113].

3.1.1.2 Visual Studio Community 2013

Visual Studio Community is a free *Integrated Development Environment* (IDE) to create applications in various operating systems [114]. It allows to write and test code in a plenitude of languages. The EmotivBCI was developed in C#: An object oriented programming language. The class diagram of the EmotivBCI is illustrated in Figure 3.3.

¹SDK - Software Development Kit

²API - Application Programming Interface



Figure 3.3: Class diagram of the EmotivBCI.

3.1.1.3 Matlab 2015

Matlab is a high-level programming language and interface developed by MathWorks³. Matlab is specially useful to develop signal processing algorithms, since it has implemented various functions to meet the users' needs. It is also extremely convenient to plot data and perform statistical analysis.

Throughout the development of the EmotivBCI, Matlab was an essential tool to develop some of the functions used for signal processing. Functions developed in Matlab were converted to a C# component in the form of *dll* (Dynamic Link Library), and then implemented in the main program developed in C#.

Table 3.1 summarizes the functions developed in Matlab.

Table 3.1: Functions developed in Matlab and used in the EmotivBCI for analysis and processing.

Function	Description
CalculatePowerValue	Calculates the logarithmic band power value for a
	band length of 1 Hz centered at the frequency given,
	for a single frame.
ExtractFeatures	Extracts the two best combinations of channel/fre-
	quency that exhibit the greatest action difference be-
	tween the action and rest states.
GenerateFeatMap	Plots the power differences for each channel with re-
	spect to the frequency.
ChannelPSD	Plots the Periodogram and Welch Power Estimation
	for a given channel.
GenerateClassifierData	Plots the feature attributes used to build the classifier.

3.1.1.4 Accord.NET Framework

The Accord.NET Framework is a .NET machine-learning framework which is comprised of signal processing and classification libraries written in C# [115].

³The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, 2000

The classification algorithms used in EmotivBCI were implemented from the Accord.NET libraries. These algorithms yield a classification accuracy based on the respective input data: attributes and classes.

3.1.2 Getting Started

EmotivBCI was developed with the intent of serving as a personal platform, where users can register their personal information, perform tests, and keep track of their own progress. That being the case, a new user first has to register, by providing the name, age, a user-name and a password. After successfully logging in with the created user-name and password, the user can perform training sessions, and has at his or her disposition an array of commands to further analyse acquired data. In order to perform BCI tests, the user must be wearing the Emotiv headset. It is advised that the position of the headset is adjusted so the FC5 and FC6 channels are closer to the central cortex of the brain, in the C5 and C6 positions of the 10-20 EEG electrode system (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4: Adjustment of electrodes from the standard Emotiv position. The red circles mark the original positions, and the green circles mark the adjusted positions. Adapted and modified from [116], [117].

3.2 Training Session

The main feature of the EmotivBCI is the ability for a user to perform training sessions. They consist of two-minute EEG acquisitions, in which the user performs the action the screen display prompts him to do. At the end of the acquisition, a classification accuracy is given according to how well the classifier distinguished between the two tested conditions.

3.2.1 Training options

The EmotivBCI provides four different training options:

- 1. Left hand motor action: User repeatedly clenches left hand when prompted;
- 2. Left hand motor action: User repeatedly clenches right hand when prompted;
- 3. Left hand motor action: User imagines left hand movement when prompted;
- 4. Left hand motor action: User imagines right hand movement when prompted;

Depending on the selected option, the user will perform the respective action (**Action condition**) intercalated with an idle state, which from this point forward will be referred to as the **Rest condition**.

3.2.2 Training paradigms

Complementary to the training options, the EmotivBCI also offers two different training paradigms:

- 1. Training Paradigm 1 TP-1: 5-second-rest-5-second-action;
- 2. Training Paradigm 2 TP-2: 2-second-rest-2-second-action;

The training paradigm dictates the frequency at which the user is prompted to perform the chosen training option. The total time of the training session does not change (2 minutes). However, the number of repetitions change according to the paradigm. Table 3.2 summarizes the the parameters of both training paradigms. Both paradigms come with advantages and disadvantages, but these will be discussed in the next chapter.

Table 3.2: Comparison between TP-1 and TP-2. Repetitions represent the number of times a user has to perform the *rest condition* and *action condition* during the 2-minute training session. The number of features represents the total number of values available to train a classifier.

Training Paradigm	Repetitions	Number of Features
TP-1	12	48
TP-2	30	120

3.3 Processing Cascade

From the raw EEG data that was acquired through a training session, until a final classification is attributed, the signals from all the channels undergo a comprehensive processing cascade. From this cascade, the relevant features are extracted, and used to construct a feature matrix, which will then be fed to the classifier. Figure 3.5 gives a simple illustration of the processing cascade.



Features: 2 Channel/Frequency pairs

Figure 3.5: Diagram of the Feature Extraction processing cascade. Note that only one channel is represented for simplicity, however, all data from every channel is processed the same way.

3.3.1 Signal Processing

The signal processing is carried out with the support of *Matlab* wrapped functions in a non-parametric fashion. Once acquired, signals from each channel are pre-processed with the C# built functions that remove the DC component and normalize the signal for each of the channels. The offset of the signal is removed by subtracting the average over the time domain of the signal. The signal x(k), in which k is the time instant, is then normalized between [-1, 1] through:

$$x_n(k) = 1/max(|x(k)|) * x(k).$$
(3.1)

Next, each of the channels is separated into the **rest** and **action** conditions, but only the initial number of samples is selected, which corresponds to the initial instances of each condition (Figure 3.5). The reasoning behind this is further explained later, but essentially the initial instances of each condition are more likely to carry the greatest information value for feature extraction. There are 5 established number of samples that are selected:

- 13 samples ~100 ms;
- 26 samples ~200 ms;

- 39 samples ~300 ms;
- 69 samples = 500 ms;
- 128 samples = 1 s;

For each number of samples, the feature extraction cascade is the same.

3.3.2 Feature Extraction

After the signal is pre-processed and segmented into two distinct signal vectors: Rest and Action, the EmotivBCI extracts the 2 best combinations of channel/frequency that exhibit the greatest ERD/ERS over the respective number of trials between these two conditions. The first step in the feature extraction cascade involves filtering the signal. The filter used is a 10th-order double bandpass Chebyshev Type 1 filter (refer to 2.4.1.1) in the frequency bands that may exhibit ERD/ERS: 7 Hz to 13 Hz (*Mu*) and 15 Hz to 30 Hz (*Beta*).

Once filtered, the Power spectrum density (PSD) is estimated using the Welch method (Chapter 2.4.2.2) for each of the conditions in every channel: *PSD*(*rest*) and *PSD*(*action*).

The difference PSD(rest) - PSD(action) is calculated to identify the channel and frequency pairs that show the greatest difference, hence the greatest ERD/ERS.

The two best combinations of channel/frequency are used to build the feature matrix to train the classifier. The best channels may be the same. If so they exhibit ERD/ERS in two distinct frequencies.

3.3.3 Feature Matrix Construction

The feature matrix is calculated for the best channels, by computing the logarithmic band power centered in the respective best frequency. The band power is computed as follows:

$$BP|_{f-0.5}^{f+0.5} = 10\log\sum\left\||X(k)|_{f-0.5}^{f+0.5}\|\right|^2.$$
(3.2)

In this equation, X(k) is the FFT coefficients between the delimited frequencies.

The data from each of the 2 best channels is again separated into rest and action conditions (this step is now computed in the C# framework), and buffered into frames of the same size as the respective number of samples.

For each frame, the logarithmic band power centered in the best frequency, with the range of 1 Hz, is computed.

The resulting matrix consists of a set of band power values for the rest state, which corresponds to output -1, and a set of band power values for the action state, which corresponds to output +1 (Figure 3.6).

Depending on the previously selected training paradigm, the number of values for the classes rest and action are different:

Training Paradigm 1: 12 repetitions x 2 conditions = 24 values per attribute;

Training Paradigm 2: 30 repetitions x 2 conditions = 60 values per attribute;

The resulting feature matrix will therefore consist of 2 sets of attributes: band power values for combination channel/frequency number 1, and band power values for combination of channel/frequency number 2.



Figure 3.6: Diagram of the Feature Matrix construction. The features have been extracted prior to this stage. Both channel/frequency pairs go through this processing.

3.3.4 Classification

The feature matrix is used to train 3 different classifiers implemented using the Accord Framework:

- Naïve Bayes
- Gaussian Support Vector Machine
- Decision Tree

The resulting classification accuracy represents the number of correctly classified samples over the total number of samples multiplied by 100%. The random classification accuracy is 50%.

The processing cascade will result in 3 classifiers for each number of samples, so in total 15 different classification values are computed. From these 15, only the one that yields the best accuracy is selected, along with the number of samples, to validate the

training session, and posteriorly be used for real-time BCI processing. The relevant features extracted (2 best channel/frequency pairs)in respect to the best classification are registered for that training session as well.

3.4 Other Features

The ability to perform training sessions and subsequently classify data is the main feature of the *EmotivBCI*. It does, however, offer a few more features to round out and come close to a what a real BCI platform should be like (Figure 3.7). The next subsections will give a brief overview of such features.



Figure 3.7: Features of the EmotivBCI.

3.4.1 Online BCI - Real-time Testing

One of the most promising features of the *EmotivBCI* is the ability to perform BCI tests with live feedback. In order to perform real-time testing, a user has to first perform a training session, choosing the appropriate option for which he or she wants to test. During the training session, the appropriate features are extracted and a classifier model is built,

so that it can classify incoming data from live acquisition. With classification accuracies above 90% it has yielded acceptable responses. With classification accuracies lower than 90% there seems to be no sufficiently adequate response. The way it is implemented, it computes a band power value (based on the respective features acquired from the training session) every 1 second, or 128 samples. The computed value is then classified as *Rest* or *Action* based on the training set. Because the features are extracted based on the initial samples, usually lower than 128, the data from live acquisition may not be fully compatible. This is an issue which should be addressed in further development of the *EmotivBCI*.

3.4.2 Generate Feature Map

Feature maps are density charts that show the activity of the channels with respect to frequency (Figure 3.7(a)). It is based on these charts that the features for a given training session are extracted i.e. 2 channel/frequency pairs. The user has the ability to visualize these feature maps and analyse the areas of the brain that showed grater variation between the *rest* and *action* conditions. The feature maps are generated according to the processing algorithms described above.

3.4.3 Generate Channel PSD

Although the feature map can show the power variation in all the channels, it is not very detailed. For this reason, the user can visualize the power spectrum of both the *rest* and *action* condition for any given channel. This command generates 2 power spectrum density plots: Periodogram (Figure 3.7(b)) and Welch Method Estimation (Figure 3.7(c)). Through these plots it is often possible to observe a clear desynchronization of the *action* condition.

3.4.4 Generate Classification Data

This command plots the attribute values used to train the classifiers in a plane i.e the values from the feature matrix. The y axis consists of the power values of the first channel/frequency pair, and the x axis consists of the second. The colors refer to the condition: blue is rest, and red is action. Through this plot it is possible to predict the accuracy of the classification (Figure 3.7(d)).

3.4.5 Miscellaneous

The *EmotivBCI* has a few other options that may be useful. Among these are the ability to export and import EEG data in *CSV* format, the ability to check previous training sessions and respective performances and other implemented functions that provide assistance on the usage of the platform. Aside from these, there are a few functions under progress to provide even more angles of analysis of acquired data, but that are not yet perfected to be mentioned.

3.5 EmotivBCI: Wrap-up

The EmotivBCI was developed in different stages. The signal processing stage was developed mostly in Matlab, with the support of a public available EEG dataset from Physionet [116], [117], which contains EEG data from motor action and motor imagery tests for 109 different subjects. During this stage different processing techniques were experimented in order to achieve the optimal processing algorithm used in this project. Meanwhile, the platform was being developed in C#. The final stage consisted of seamlessly implementing EEG data acquisition from the Emotiv Epoc and the functions developed in Matlab into the platform. Subsequently various tests were performed to validate if all the components were running smoothly. Throughout the development of the EmotivBCI, different methods and tests were conducted to reach the best performance possible. Special attention was given to speed and robustness of processing, not only so the user doesn't have to wait a considerable amount of time for his or her classification results, but so that real-time testing could then be feasible. The real-time testing functionality of the EmotivBCI is rudimentary at the time of this document. Different approaches should be taken in order to make it a viable feature. Further suggestions and commentary will be elaborated in the Conclusion chapter.

СНАРТЕК

Assessment of EmotivBCI

In order to validate and analyse the efficiency of the EmotivBCI, two studies were conducted with a different number of volunteers. The participants consisted of healthy individuals between the ages of 23 to 37, who had no previous experience with BCIs. The aim of the first study was to analyse the performance of the EmotivBCI using the two training paradigms. The aim of the second study was to determine the evolution of the performance with continuous usage. With a few minor differences which will be mentioned below, the task formulation for both studies was similar. The group of individuals were different for each study.

4.1 Task Formulation

Although the group of individuals was different depending on the study, the task formulation was the same. Both studies consisted of the subjects performing the 4 different training options one after another. The subjects were asked to hand over their mobile phones, and then moved into a Faraday cage at the research center to perform the test. They were asked to sit on a wooden chair in front of a laptop. The *Emotiv* headset was placed on their head, with the electrode channels carefully located in the correct positions (the position of the electrodes was slightly different than the standard Emotiv channel position - Chapter 3.1.2).

It was certified that all the signals from every channel were being acquired with suitable quality using the *Emotiv* software *TestBench*, and by visual assessment. The subjects were then told to register in the EmotivBCI application and login. Before performing the training sessions, they were told to keep still as much as possible, including blinking, and just perform the movements indicated by the application. During every training session the subjects were alone in the Faraday cage. For both studies, the subject answered 4 survey

questions after the test for futher analysis. The answers were to be given using a scale from 1 to 5, except for question 3. The questions were:

- 1. "How would you rate your mood?": 1 (very bad/exhausted) -> 5 (excellent);
- 2. "How comfortable was the Emotiv headset?": 1 (very uncomfortable) -> 5 (very comfortable);
- 3. "Which training paradigm did you consider less exhausting?"; 1 (TP-1), 2 (TP-2) and 3 (no difference);
- 4. "How hard was it to perform motor imagery?": 1 (very easy) -> 5 (very hard);

4.2 Study 1: Training Paradigm 1 Vs. Training Paradigm 2

The objective of this study was to assess the performances of 4 different subjects doing both training paradigms. For this, they performed all the training options twice, according to the task formulation. The first time they performed the training sessions using **Training Paradigm 1 - TP-1**: 5-second-rest-5-second-action. Shortly after they performed the training sessions using the **Training Paradigm 2 - TP-2**: 2-second-rest-2-second-action.

4.2.1 Motor Action Results and Analysis

The results from motor action performance are presented in Table 4.1, in which the channels correspond to the adjusted position, and not the standard Emotiv Epoc position. The channel positions are based on the 10-20 system. The features represent the two channel/frequency pairs which exhibited greater activity, and the samples used (Chapter 3.3.1). *T.O* stands for Training Option¹. The classifier² used is displayed as well as the classification accuracy, which is the criterion for performance.

There is a clear variation in performance not only between the two training paradigms, but also from subject to subject. Among the 8 different tests, only two tests showed a better performance using the Training Paradigm 2. Figure 4.1 shows a box plot for each of the Training Paradigms with respect to motor action. Subject 2 reached a 100% accuracy in the left-hand motor action option, which enabled him to asynchronously control the BCI flawlessly in real-time. In most cases, the extracted channels are FC5 and FC4, which correspond to the pre-motor cortex on both hemispheres.

¹LH - left hand; RH - right hand.

² NB - Naïve Bayes; GSVM - Gaussian Support Vector Machine; DT - Decision Tree.

Table 4.1: Study 1: Motor Action Classifications between TP-1 and TP-2 for 4 subjects. T.O: Training Option; LH: Left Hand; RH: Right Hand; NB: Naïve Bayes; GSVM: Gaussian Support Vector Machine; DT: Decision Tree.

Subjects	T.O	Training Paradigm 1: 5-se	cond-rest-5	-second-action	Training Paradigm 2: 2-se	cond-rest-2-	second-action
,.		Features	Classifier	Classification (%)	Features	Classifier	Classification (%)
S1	LH	FC5/24Hz, F4/24Hz, 13 s.	DT	91.2%	FC5/10Hz, FC4/10Hz, 69 s.	DT	79.2%
	RH	FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 39s.	NB	83.3%	F3/9Hz, C6/9Hz, 39 s.	DT	70.8%
52	LH	FC3/29Hz, FC6/29Hz, 128 s.	DT	75.0%	FC3/9Hz, FC6/9Hz, 39 s.	DT	83.3%
01	RH	FC3/8Hz, FC6/8Hz, 39 s.	DT	100.0%	FC3/9Hz, FC6/9Hz, 26 s.	DT	79.2%
53	LH	FC3/10Hz, FC6/10Hz, 128 s.	DT	83.3%	FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 13 s.	GSVM	83.3%
50	RH	F3/10Hz, FC6/10Hz, 128 s.	DT	87.5%	FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 39 s.	DT	79.2%
54	LH	FC5/8Hz, FC4/8Hz, 26 s.	GSVM	79.2%	C5/9Hz, F4/9Hz, 69 s.	DT	83.3%
01	RH	FC5/13Hz, FC4/13Hz, 13 s.	GSVM	70.8%	FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 13 s.	DT	70.8%



Figure 4.1: Box plot analysis between TP-1 and TP-2 for Motor Action: TP-1 shows overall better performance than TP-2.

4.2.2 Motor Imagery Results and Analysis

In a similar fashion to the Motor Action tests, Table 4.2 displays the results for the same subjects, but this time for Motor Imagery tests.

Table 4.2: Study 1: Motor Imagery Classifications between TP-1 and TP-2 for 4 subjects. T.O: Training Option; LH: Left Hand; RH: Right Hand; NB: Naïve Bayes; GSVM: Gaussian Support Vector Machine; DT: Decision Tree.

Subjects	T.O	Training Paradigm 1: 5-se	cond-rest-5	-second-action	Training Paradigm 2: 2-se	cond-rest-2-	second-action
,		Features	Classifier	Classification (%)	Features	Classifier	Classification (%)
S1	LH	FC5/24Hz, C6/24Hz, 13 s.	DT	79.2%	F3/11Hz, C6/11Hz, 69 s.	GSVM	70.8%
	RH	FC5/9Hz, AF4/9Hz, 39s.	DT	75.0%	F7/11, F4/11, 128 s.	GSVM	79.2%
S2	LH	F3/9Hz, C6/9Hz, 128 s.	DT	87.5%	C5/27Hz, F4/27Hz, 69 s.	DT	83.3%
	RH	FC3/9Hz, FC6/9Hz, 69 s.	DT	83.3%	FC3/9Hz, FC6/9Hz, 26 s.	GSVM	79.2%
S 3	LH	FC3/11Hz, FC6/11Hz, 128 s.	GSVM	83.3%	F3/12Hz, C6/12Hz, 39 s.	DT	79.2%
	RH	F3/12Hz, C6/12Hz, 128 s.	DT	87.5%	FC5/12Hz, FC4/12Hz, 39 s.	DT	83.3%
<u>S4</u>	LH	C5/8Hz, F4/8Hz, 26 s.	NB	70.8%	FC3/14Hz, FC6/14Hz, 13 s.	GSVM	70.8%
	RH	C5/9Hz, F4/9Hz, 128 s.	DT	79.2%	FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 128 s.	DT	79.2%

The results from motor imagery are more balanced between training paradigms than testing motor action. Motor imagery is more challenging to perform, and therefore performances were slightly lower than motor action also. However, there were some exceptions, namely subject 2 and subject 4 achieved a higher performance in certain tests. It is important to note that different features were extracted from motor imagery tests in relation to motor action. Yet, the channels still correspond to the two hemispheres of the brain. Overall, subjects performed better under training paradigm 1 than training paradigm 2. Figure 4.2 shows a box plot analysis between the two training paradigms, this time for motor imagery.



Figure 4.2: Box plot analysis between TP-1 and TP-2 for Motor Imagery: TP-1 shows overall better performance than TP-2.

4.3 Study 2: Evolution of Performance with Practice

The objective of this study was to evaluate if a group of four subjects improved classifications after several sessions of usage of the EmotivBCI. For this study, every subject performed 3 sessions of tests. Unlike the first study, where the subject performed each of the training options for both training paradigms, this time around the subjects performed each of the training options, with intercalated training paradigms. The training paradigms were intercalated between subjects too, therefore two of the subjects started with TP-1, and the other two with TP-2. Subjects 5 and 8 performed the tests in the span of 3 weeks, as subjects 6 and 7 performed the tests in 3 consecutive days.



Figure 4.3: Study 2: Motor Action classification accuracies of 4 subjects over 3 training sessions.



Figure 4.4: Study 2: Motor Imagery classification accuracies of 4 subjects over 3 training sessions.



Figure 4.5: Study 2: Average subject performance over the 3 training sessions.

The results of the motor action and motor imagery tests for each subject are presented in Figures 4.3 and 4.4 respectively. Their average performance is showed in Figure 4.5. Subject 5 showed an improvement in performance between the first and last training session across all categories. His best performance, however, was the second training session, where he achieved a 100% accuracy in the left hand motor action test. Subject 7 reported he was tired and with few hours of sleep during his last two training sessions. Likewise, his performances were poorer. On the other hand, subject 6 reported to be light spirited and energetic during his second training session, in which he achieved his best performance. Due to these observations, a statistical analysis was done to observe how classifications changed with respect to mood, which will be presented in the following section. Only subject 8 showed a continuous improvement across all training sessions.

The details of each training session are presented on the next page in Tables 4.3 and 4.4. As in the first study, the extracted channels for each of the subjects correspond to the two hemispheres. As expected, most of the features are similar within the same training option over the 3 training sessions, however it is not always the case. This may be due to a

slightly different placement of the headset from session to session.

2.		Training	Session 1		Training	Session 2	шее, 11 1. 11ан		Training	Training Session 3
sts	T.O	Training	Session 1	-	Training	Session 2	-		Trainin	Training Session 3
,		Features	Classifier	Classification (%)	Features	Classifier	Classific	ation (%)	ation (%) Features	ation (%) Features Classifier
ž	LH-TP1	FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 128 s.	GSVM	79.2%	FC5/11Hz, FC4/11Hz, 69 s.	DT	10	00.0%	00.0% FC5/8Hz, FC4/8Hz, 69 s.	00.0% FC5/8Hz, FC4/8Hz, 69 s. DT
0	RH-TP2	FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 26 s.	DT	75.0%	FC5/8Hz, FC4/8Hz, 13 s.	GSVM		79.2%	79.2% C5/9Hz, F4/9Hz, 26 s.	79.2% C5/9Hz, F4/9Hz, 26 s. DT
36 S	LH-TP2	FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 69 s.	GSVM	75.0%	FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 39 s.	GSVM		87.5%	87.5% F3/10Hz, C6/10Hz, 13 s.	87.5% F3/10Hz, C6/10Hz, 13 s. GSVM
0	RH-TP1	C5/8Hz, F4/8Hz, 26 s.	GSVM	79.2%	C5/9Hz, F4/9Hz, 39 s.	GSVM		79.2%	79.2% FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 69 s.	79.2% FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 69 s. DT
\$7	LH-TP1	FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 128 s.	GSVM	79.2%	F3/13Hz, C6/29Hz, 39 s.	NB		75.0%	75.0% F3/29Hz, C6/29Hz, 39 s.	75.0% F3/29Hz, C6/29Hz, 39 s. DT
ç	RH-TP2	C5/9Hz, F4/9Hz, 39 s.	DT	79.2%	F3/29Hz, C6/29Hz, 39 s.	GSVM		75.0%	75.0% F3/29Hz, C6/29Hz, 39 s.	75.0% F3/29Hz, C6/29Hz, 39 s. GSVM
85	LH-TP2	FC5/30Hz, FC4/30Hz, 69 s.	DT	75.0%	FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 39 s.	DT		83.3%	83.3% FC5/8Hz, FC4/8Hz, 26 s.	83.3% FC5/8Hz, FC4/8Hz, 26 s. DT
	RH-TP1	F3/9Hz, C6/9Hz, 26 s.	DT	75.0%	C5/12Hz, F4/12Hz, 26 s.	DT		87.5%	87.5% F3/9Hz, C6/9Hz, 128 s.	87.5% F3/9Hz, C6/9Hz, 128 s. DT
able 4 H: Ri aradi	l.4: Stuo ght Ha gm 2.	ly 2 - Motor Imagery nd; NB: Naïve Bayes;	classifi GSVM	cation accura : Gaussian Su	icies across 3 training ipport Vector Machir	; sessio 1e; DT: 1		ns for 4 subjec Decision Tree;	ns for 4 subjects. T.O: Training O _l Decision Tree; TP1: Training Parac	ns for 4 subjects. T.O: Training Option; L Decision Tree; TP1: Training Paradigm 1;'
ubiects	T.O	Training	Session 1		Training	Session 2			Training	Training Session 3
		Features	Classifier	Classification (%)	Features	Classifier		Classification (%)	Classification (%) Features	Classification (%) Features Classifier
S2	LH-TP1	FC3/10Hz, FC6/10Hz, 128 s.	DT	75.0%	FC5/10Hz, FC4/10Hz, 128 s.	DT		75.0%	75.0% FC3/10Hz, FC6/10Hz, 39 s.	75.0% FC3/10Hz, FC6/10Hz, 39 s. DT
	RH-TP2	FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 26 s.	DT	79.2%	F3/9Hz, C6/9Hz, 39 s.	DT		75.0%	75.0% C5/9Hz, F4/9Hz, 13 s.	75.0% C5/9Hz, F4/9Hz, 13 s. GSVM
9S	LH-TP2	C5/9Hz, F4/9Hz, 39 s.	DT	75.0%	FC5/27Hz, FC4/27Hz, 39 s.	DT		70.8%	70.8% FC3/10Hz, FC6/10Hz, 69 s.	70.8% FC3/10Hz, FC6/10Hz, 69 s. GSVM
	RH-TP1	C5/9Hz, F4/9Hz, 128 s.	GSVM	75.0%	FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 39 s.	DT		79.2%	79.2% C5/9, F4/9Hz, 13 s.	79.2% C5/9, F4/9Hz, 13 s. GSVM
S7	LH-TP1	C5/11Hz, F4/11Hz, 128 s.	GSVM	83.3%	F3/13Hz, C6/13Hz, 26 s.	DT		75.0%	75.0% F3/27Hz, C6/27Hz, 26 s.	75.0% F3/27Hz, C6/27Hz, 26 s. DT
	RH-TP2	C5/11Hz, F4/9Hz, 128 s.	DT	79.2%	FC5/9Hz, FC4/9Hz, 39 s.	GSVM		70.8%	70.8% FC5/25Hz, FC4/25Hz, 13s.	70.8% FC5/25Hz, FC4/25Hz, 13s. GSVM
8S	LH-TP2	FC5/11Hz, FC4/11, 69 s.	DI	79.2%	C5/30Hz, F4/30Hz, 128 s.	GSVM		75.0%	75.0% C5/11Hz, F4/11Hz, 128 s.	75.0% C5/11Hz, F4/11Hz, 128 s. DT
	RH-TP1	F3 /0H7 C6 /0H7 30 5	NB	70.8%	رد/24H2 E4/24H2 13 c	CSVM		70.00/	75 N°% E2 /0H- 06 /0H- 170 %	

CHAPTER 4. ASSESSMENT OF EMOTIVBCI

4.4 Miscellaneous Analysis

This section is devoted to provide further analysis, including data from all subjects, and also to present the results of the surveys. Figure 4.6 shows the overall performances with respect to each of the training options. As expected motor action tests yielded slightly better classification accuracies than motor imagery. This is due to the fact that motor imagery is generally challenging to perform.



Figure 4.6: Performance with respect to training option for both studies.

Data from study 2 suggested that performance may be related to the mood and alertness of the subject, therefore a plot of classification accuracies with respect to mood is presented in Figure 4.7. The mood was assessed after every training session with the first question of the survey. It should be noted that data is distributed differently across mood, since most subjects reported to be "Just Fine" and "Good". Yet it is possible to see that classification accuracies were poorer when the mood was lower.



Figure 4.7: Performance with respect to mood.

Statistical information regarding the answers for questions 2 to 4 of the survey are displayed on Figure 4.8. No subjects reported that the *Emotiv* headset was uncomfortable

(Figure 4.8(a)). Most subjects considered training paradigm 1 to be less exhausting to perform (Figure 4.8(b)). Motor imagery was considered "hard" and "very hard" to perform according to most subjects. Only one subject considered it very easy to perform (Figure 4.8(c)).



(a) Question 2 - Emotiv Comfortability.



Figure 4.8: Results from survey.

Finally, Figure 4.9 shows a pie chart representing the best performing classifiers in all training sessions. Decision Tree was by far the most frequently selected as optimal, as opposed to Naïve Bayes, which was seldom used.



Figure 4.9: Pie chart of classifier usage.

4.5 Discussion

The presented data suggests the EmotivBCI can classify motor action and motor imagery up to an acceptable performance. Theoretically, the random accuracy of a 2-class problem is 50%, and the lower classification accuracy yielded by the EmotivBCI is 70.8%. However, it is important to mention that given the number of attributes used in classification, the practical random accuracy is around 70%, as suggested by Mueller-Putz et. al. [107]. Also, the way the EmotivBCI processes and classifies the signals is highly selective for patterns, which may not be directly linked to motor actions and imagery. The EmotivBCI generates 15 different classifiers based on different time frames as explained before, and selects the best one. This can sometimes lead to a dubious classification, specially if the time window is small (for example, 13 samples). However, it is possible to distinguish and observe patterns related to each individual. Based on the first study, it is clear that there is a difference in classification between both training paradigms. Subjects had generally better performances in TP-1 than in TP-2. Reasons for this may be that training paradigm 1 has less attributes to classify than TP-2, therefore classifications are slightly better. However, most users claimed TP-1 to be less exhaustive, and that may also contribute to better classifications.

It is difficult to take significant conclusions from the second study, which evaluates performance with respect to practice. This is mainly due to the limited number of subjects and training sessions. However, based on this study, 3 out of 4 subjects improved performance between the first and last training session. The subject which showed a drop in performance claimed to be exhausted and fairly inattentive during the last two sessions, which may have had an impact in performance. Based on this, a statistical study was made to assess user performance with respect to mood using data from all participants. The number of participants is not high enough to make a general conclusion, but based on the results, classification accuracies were worse under the intermediate level of mood ("Just Fine"), and constantly better above that.

Based on the survey, most subjects considered motor imagery to be hard to perform. They were told before training sessions to imagine movement to the best of their ability, be it visual imagination or tactile imagination. Some subjects imagined activities with their hands, like playing a musical instrument or playing with a gamepad or joystick. As mentioned in Chapter 2 motor imagery is an innate ability of an individual, and can be improved with practice. As such, some of the participants had better performances than others in the motor imagery sessions.

The Emotiv headset was considered comfortable by all subjects. It requires, however, frequent attention with regard to electrode pad moisture. In many cases the signals from the channels were not steady, most likely because of internal issues related to hardware. This resulted either in random spikes, or in a very attenuated signal at times. Although signals were normalized during the processing stage, these issues can still contribute to a wrong manifestation of an EEG signal.

CONCLUSION

Neurological disorders have a meaningful impact in people's quality of life. Specially stroke, since it affects the greatest number of individuals. Rehabilitation and therapy are not overlooked. In recent years new methods have been developed and implemented in clinical settings, each with their own advantages and limitations. Nonetheless they have shown to have a positive impact. And they are not completely alternative to one another, but rather complementary. One of these methods is Brain-Computer Interfaces.

A BCI enables a subject to communicate and control the external world by using signals recorded from the central nervous system. Even though BCIs are not a new concept, it's undeniable its ongoing growth, as they may become an important asset in people's quality of life. Several applications have been developed using BCIs as the core of its functionality. Moreover, BCIs are continuously being researched as a mean of neurorehabilitation, showing potential to revolutionize how neurological diseases, mainly stroke, are treated in the future. Current limitations regarding reliability are being steadily overcome with better acquisition systems and more sophisticated processing algorithms. At the present time, non-invasive BCIs still suffer from having complex acquisition systems, which would be generally expensive and troublesome for a normal user, or even for hospitals and clinics. Therefore, they would benefit from being simple and practical.

This Master Dissertation consisted of the development of a practical, easy-to-use, noninvasive BCI: the *EmotivBCI*. The inspiration for the EmotivBCI is to be a user-friendly platform, not limited to research, in which users can perform BCI tests, based on motor action and motor imagery, and assess their performance. Furthermore, they can keep track of their progress and hopefully see a continuous improvement with practice. The EmotivBCI distinguishes between the idle condition and an action condition, based on the variation of sensorimotor rhythms.

The two studies conducted in the scope of this project provide a preliminary assessment

of the EmotivBCI. The first study compares user performance between two training paradigms. The results suggest that fewer repetitions yield better classification accuracies. This is expected due to the fact that there are fewer attributes used for classification, and also most users considered it to be less exhaustive, giving them more time to perform each of the actions. The second study analyses the progression of performance after several training sessions. The number of training sessions and the number of users was suboptimal to take definite conclusions, however, an improvement pattern was recorded for 3 out of the 4 participants. A few complementary statistical studies were conducted with data from both groups of subjects. Data showed that motor action tests had higher classification accuracies than motor imagery, as it would be expected. Also a study of performance with respect to mood was carried out, and it showed that performance was lower with respect to lower mood states and exhaustion.

The EmotivBCI is a proof-of-concept BCI, which successfully implements most of the features it was intended to. There is, however, much room for further improvement, be it as a part of a doctoral project, or continuous master dissertation projects. The next section will discuss a few of the areas in which the EmotivBCI can continue to grow as a BCI platform, until it can be recognized as a legit rehabilitation tool.

5.1 Future Developments

The EmotivBCI is far from reaching its full potential. What was introduced in this Master Dissertation is the first prototype of what could potentially be an innovative rehabilitation tool. In this final section, it will be described and suggested a few of the ways in which the EmotivBCI can improve in respect to different areas:

5.1.1 Emotiv headset and Hardware

One of the innovative concepts developing the EmotivBCI was to use a commercially available, easy to use headset to perform the EEG acquisition. For this purpose, the Emotiv headset was selected, and it also gave the inspiration to the name of the BCI. Although it is aestheticly pleasing, and comfortable on the user, it comes with its drawbacks, as discussed before. Besides the electrodes not being designed to be placed on the central cortex, as adjustments were made for the studies, the necessity of constantly wetting the electrode sponges for acquisition can be a gruelling task for any potential user: a physician, or worse, the disabled patient. The fact that the electrode knobs are extremely fragile, and come off easily doesn't help either. Fortunately, new hardware keeps being launched. It is also worth noting that the computer where both the software was developed and the studies were conducted was 6 years old, and it caused the software to be unresponsive at times. In a couple of occasions, tests had to be repeated due to the computer lagging, and causing the training paradigms not to be timely. This is easily solvable, due to the fact that a newer computer could perhaps execute the code faster, without lagging issues.

5.1.2 Signal Processing

The EmotivBCI uses a simple and straightforward processing cascade, which provided acceptable results. For some users, it showed a clear distinction between the rest and action conditions, and for both motor action and motor imagery tests. There was some degree of correlation between the mood of the users and the results. A state-of-the-art BCI, however, should be able to classify and clearly distinguish the user's intent regardless of their condition, or even environment. To this end, new, and more sophisticated processing techniques should be investigated. Parametric techniques are an alternative, or complementary, approach that can be incorporated in the EmotivBCI. Ideally, it should be possible to detect patterns in EEG signal behaviour going from one condition to another, with respect to time. Wavelets and other time-related techniques may provide the means to study these patterns.

Some developed BCIs have the ability to successfully distinguish between four different conditions, while the EmotivBCI only does two: Rest and one action. However, for the majority of the conducted tests, the EmotivBCI showed different features for the use of Left and Right hand, for both motor action and imagery. So, theoretically the EmotivBCI could distinguish between 3 different conditions. But this remains to be tested in a paradigm where all the actions are involved.

5.1.3 Visual Interface and Visual Stimuli

The creation of a visual interface for the EmotivBCI is of a high degree of priority for two important reasons. The first is the obvious aesthetic aspect. Any user would prefer having a friendly interface to navigate through the options, instead of typing commands through a console. The use of visual cues to display the action the user has to perform would be more beneficial and be less exhausting than having to read tiny letters on the console display. The second, and more important reason, would be the incorporation of visual stimuli to the training paradigms. As mentioned in Chapter 2, mirror neurons have an important role in cerebral neuroplasticity. By combining visual stimuli with motor imagery, it is expected that ERD/ERS would be accentuated and hence, better classifications accuracies would arise. Moreover, most users reported that it was difficult to perform motor imagery, thereby the use of visual aid could facilitate this task. In the end, the user could perform motor imagery, and see a virtual hand moving in the computer interface.

Having the EmotivBCI platform built mostly on a C# environment was done intently for this purpose. A gaming engine software: *Unity3D* [118], operates by C# scripting, and it could be a viable option to create a visual interface. It has now been explored as a mean of Virtual Reality rehabilitation, and it is compatible with biomedical applications. Also, the creation of a virtual hand that opens and closes can be achieved using this software, thereby providing the Visual Stimulus mentioned before. Further ahead, it could even allow the creation of games or other entertaining activities associated with rehabilitation to captivate the enthusiasm of the patients and therefore promote their recovery.

5.1.4 Further tests and validation

The number of subjects used to perform the studies presented in this Dissertation was limited. A greater variety of subjects and studies should be conducted in the future. As mentioned, a new paradigm involving the use of 3 conditions as opposed to 2 conditions is fundamental. For example: Rest condition; left hand condition and right hand condition. Several paradigms should also be tested, with different durations, and triggered at random times, instead of following a pattern. If these studies show conclusive results in healthy individuals, then the EmotivBCI can proceed to be tested in real patients. At this point, the EmotivBCI should have a visual interface and visual stimulus implemented. Hopefully it should also perform the EEG acquisitions from a newer headset with dry electrodes. If it is well received by physicians and patients, and it is proven to be a useful tool in rehabilitation, then it should be disseminated across different clinical settings, and eventually be commercialized.

5.2 Outputs

The outputs of this dissertation are as follows:

• Participation in the 3rd Worksop on ICTs for improving Patients rehabilitation Research Techniques, held in Lisbon, on the 1st and 2nd of October of 2015 (workshop paper submitted and accepted)(Appendix B).

Future work may be prepared and developed for submission in journals and conferences related to BCIs and Neurorehabilitation.
BIBLIOGRAPHY

- G. Dornhege, *Toward Brain-computer Interfacing*, ser. A Bradford book. MIT Press, 2007, ISBN: 9780262042444. [Online]. Available: http://books.google.pt/ books?id=V88swGX83ecC.
- [2] T. W. Kjaer and H. B. Sorensen, "A brain-computer interface to support functional recovery", Front Neurol Neurosci, vol. 32, pp. 95–100, 2013, ISSN: 1662-2804 (Electronic) 0300-5186 (Linking). DOI: 10.1159/000346430. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23859968http://www. karger.com/Article/FullText/346430http://www.karger.com/ Article/Abstract/346430.
- [3] D. A. Lobel and K. H. Lee, "Brain machine interface and limb reanimation technologies: Restoring function after spinal cord injury through development of a bypass system", Mayo Clin Proc, vol. 89, no. 5, pp. 708–14, 2014, ISSN: 1942-5546 (Electronic) 0025-6196 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2014.02.003. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24797649http://www.mayoclinicproceedings.org/article/S0025-6196(14)00145-1/abstracthttp://www.mayoclinicproceedings.org/article/S0025-6196(14)00145-1/pdf.
- [4] G. Prasad, P. Herman, D. Coyle, S. McDonough, and J. Crosbie, "Applying a brain-computer interface to support motor imagery practice in people with stroke for upper limb recovery: A feasibility study", *J Neuroeng Rehabil*, vol. 7, p. 60, 2010, ISSN: 1743-0003 (Electronic) 1743-0003 (Linking). DOI: 10.1186/1743-0003 7 60. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3017056/pdf/1743-0003-7-60.pdf.
- [5] L.-D. Liao, C.-Y. Chen, I.-J. Wang, S.-F. Chen, S.-Y. Li, B.-W. Chen, J.-Y. Chang, and C.-T. Lin, "Gaming control using a wearable and wireless eeg-based brain-computer interface device with novel dry foam-based sensors", *Journal of neuroengineering and rehabilitation*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 5, 2012.
- [6] A. Akhtar, J. J. Norton, M. Kasraie, and T. Bretl, "Playing checkers with your mind: An interactive multiplayer hardware game platform for brain-computer interfaces", *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc*, vol. 2014, pp. 1650–3, 2014, ISSN: 1557-170X (Print) 1557-170X (Linking). DOI: 10.1109/EMBC.2014.6943922. [Online].

Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25570290http:// ieeexplore.ieee.org/xpl/articleDetails.jsp?arnumber=6943922.

- [7] S. A. Combs, M. A. Finley, M. Henss, S. Himmler, K. Lapota, and D. Stillwell, "Effects of a repetitive gaming intervention on upper extremity impairments and function in persons with chronic stroke: A preliminary study", *Disabil Rehabil*, vol. 34, no. 15, pp. 1291–8, 2012, ISSN: 1464-5165 (Electronic) 0963-8288 (Linking). DOI: 10.3109/09638288.2011.641660. [Online]. Available: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22324473http://informahealthcare. com/doi/abs/10.3109/09638288.2011.641660.
- [8] E. M. Holz, J. Hohne, P. Staiger-Salzer, M. Tangermann, and A. Kubler, "Brain-computer interface controlled gaming: Evaluation of usability by severely motor restricted end-users", *Artif Intell Med*, vol. 59, no. 2, pp. 111–20, 2013, ISSN: 1873-2860 (Electronic) 0933-3657 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j.artmed.2013.08.001. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24080080http://www.aiimjournal.com/article/S0933-3657 (13)00114-0/abstract.
- [9] D. A. Rohani, H. B. Sorensen, and S. Puthusserypady, "Brain-computer interface using p300 and virtual reality: A gaming approach for treating adhd", *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc*, vol. 2014, pp. 3606–9, 2014, ISSN: 1557-170X (Print) 1557-170X (Linking). DOI: 10.1109/EMBC.2014.6944403. [Online]. Available: http: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25570771http://ieeexplore. ieee.org/xpl/articleDetails.jsp?arnumber=6944403.
- [10] B. H. Dobkin, "Strategies for stroke rehabilitation", Lancet Neurol, vol. 3, no. 9, pp. 528–36, 2004, ISSN: 1474-4422 (Print) 1474-4422 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/ S1474-4422(04)00851-8. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/15324721http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC4164204/pdf/nihms623177.pdf.
- [11] V. Hachinski, C. Iadecola, R. C. Petersen, M. M. Breteler, D. L. Nyenhuis, S. E. Black, W. J. Powers, C. DeCarli, J. G. Merino, R. N. Kalaria, H. V. Vinters, D. M. Holtzman, G. A. Rosenberg, A. Wallin, M. Dichgans, J. R. Marler, and G. G. Leblanc, "National institute of neurological disorders and stroke-canadian stroke network vascular cognitive impairment harmonization standards", *Stroke*, vol. 37, no. 9, pp. 2220–41, 2006, ISSN: 1524-4628 (Electronic) 0039-2499 (Linking). DOI: 10.1161/01.STR.0000237236.88823.47. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16917086.
- [12] A. Venkatakrishnan, G. E. Francisco, and J. L. Contreras-Vidal, "Applications of brain-machine interface systems in stroke recovery and rehabilitation", *Curr Phys Med Rehabil Rep*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 93–105, 2014, ISSN: 2167-4833 (Print) 2167-4833

(Linking). DOI: 10.1007/s40141-014-0051-4. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25110624.

- [13] R Ferreira, R Neves, V. Rodrigues, P Nogueira, A Silva, M Rosa, M Alves, and D Afonso, "Portugal-doenças cérebro-cardiovasculares em números-2013", *Direcção Geral de Saúde*, pp. 1–64, 2013.
- [14] D. Longo, A. Fauci, D. Kasper, S. Hauser, J. Jameson, and J. Loscalzo, *Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine*, 18th Edition. McGraw-Hill Education, 2011, ISBN: 9780071748902. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.pt/books?id=7gxjMV8hClsC.
- [15] G. Donnan, M. Fisher M. and; Macleod, and S Davis, "Stroke", The Lancet, vol. 371, 9624 2008. DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(08)60694-7. [Online]. Available: http: //libgen.org/scimag/index.php?s=10.1016/s0140-6736(08)60694-7.
- [16] M. L. Dyken, "Stroke risk factors", in *Prevention of stroke*, Springer, 1991, pp. 83–101.
- [17] A. Muralidharan, J. Chae, and D. M. Taylor, "Extracting attempted hand movements from eegs in people with complete hand paralysis following stroke", *Front Neurosci*, vol. 5, p. 39, 2011, ISSN: 1662-453X (Electronic) 1662-453X (Linking). DOI: 10.3389/fnins.2011.00039. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/21472032http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC3066795/pdf/fnins-05-00039.pdf.
- [18] J. W. Krakauer, "Arm function after stroke: From physiology to recovery", Semin Neurol, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 384–95, 2005, ISSN: 0271-8235 (Print) 0271-8235 (Linking). DOI: 10.1055/s-2005-923533. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/16341995https://www.thieme-connect.com/DOI/ DOI?10.1055/s-2005-923533.
- [19] J. Bogousslavsky, G. Van Melle, and F. Regli, "Middle cerebral artery pial territory infarcts: A study of the lausanne stroke registry", *Ann Neurol*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 555–60, 1989, ISSN: 0364-5134 (Print) 0364-5134 (Linking). DOI: 10.1002/ana. 410250605. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2742358.
- [20] A. S. Association. (2012). Effects of stroke, [Online]. Available: http://www. strokeassociation.org/STROKEORG/AboutStroke/EffectsofStroke/ Effects-of-Stroke_UCM_308534_SubHomePage.jsp (visited on 06/22/2015).
- [21] P. Langhorne, J. Bernhardt, and G. Kwakkel, "Stroke rehabilitation", Lancet, vol. 377, no. 9778, pp. 1693–702, 2011, ISSN: 1474-547X (Electronic) 0140-6736 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11) 60325-5. [Online]. Available: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21571152http://www.thelancet.com/ journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(11) 60325-5/abstract.

- [22] F. Buma, G. Kwakkel, and N. Ramsey, "Understanding upper limb recovery after stroke", *Restor Neurol Neurosci*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 707–22, 2013, ISSN: 1878-3627 (Electronic) 0922-6028 (Linking). DOI: 10.3233/RNN-130332. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23963341http://iospress. metapress.com/content/r5hr107665t824n3/fulltext.pdf.
- [23] B. H. Dobkin and A. Dorsch, "New evidence for therapies in stroke rehabilitation", Curr Atheroscler Rep, vol. 15, no. 6, p. 331, 2013, ISSN: 1534-6242 (Electronic) 1523-3804 (Linking). DOI: 10.1007/s11883-013-0331-y. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23591673http://download. springer.com/static/pdf/649/art%253A10.1007%252Fs11883-013-0331-y.pdf?auth66=1417614052_bd8ea8f6ab1a4ceb5ba987751625d803& ext=.pdf.
- [24] M. Eriksson, E. L. Glader, B. Norrving, and K. Asplund, "Poststroke suicide attempts and completed suicides: A socioeconomic and nationwide perspective", *Neurology*, vol. 84, no. 17, pp. 1732–8, 2015, ISSN: 1526-632X (Electronic) 0028-3878 (Linking). DOI: 10.1212/WNL.00000000001514. [Online]. Available: http: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25832661http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4424126/pdf/NEUROLOGY2014613422.pdf.
- [25] R. Teasell, N. Foley, K. Salter, S. Bhogal, J. Jutai, and M. Speechley, "Evidence-based review of stroke rehabilitation: Executive summary, 12th edition", *Top Stroke Rehabil*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 463–88, 2009, ISSN: 1074-9357 (Print) 1074-9357 (Linking). DOI: 10.1310/tsr1606-463. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/20139049.
- [26] B. H. Dobkin, "Training and exercise to drive poststroke recovery", Nat Clin Pract Neurol, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 76–85, 2008, ISSN: 1745-8358 (Electronic) 1745-834X (Linking). DOI: 10.1038/ncpneuro0709. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18256679http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC4099052/pdf/nihms599638.pdf.
- [27] K. Brady and T. Garcia, "Constraint-induced movement therapy (cimt): Pediatric applications", Dev Disabil Res Rev, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 102–11, 2009, ISSN: 1940-5529 (Electronic) 1940-5529 (Linking). DOI: 10.1002/ddrr.59. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19489088http:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/store/10.1002/ddrr.59/asset/59_ftp. pdf?v=1&t=ib88iq8s&s=596546a7e87c0a0579b119e1aa47a3acc80c79d0.
- [28] R. C. Loureiro, W. S. Harwin, K. Nagai, and M. Johnson, "Advances in upper limb stroke rehabilitation: A technology push", *Med Biol Eng Comput*, vol. 49, no. 10, pp. 1103–18, 2011, ISSN: 1741-0444 (Electronic) 0140-0118 (Linking). DOI: 10.1007/s11517-011-0797-0. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.

nih.gov/pubmed/21773806http://link.springer.com/article/10. 1007%2Fs11517-011-0797-0.

- [29] A. C. Lo, P. D. Guarino, L. G. Richards, J. K. Haselkorn, G. F. Wittenberg, D. G. Federman, R. J. Ringer, T. H. Wagner, H. I. Krebs, B. T. Volpe, J. Bever C. T., D. M. Bravata, P. W. Duncan, B. H. Corn, A. D. Maffucci, S. E. Nadeau, S. S. Conroy, J. M. Powell, G. D. Huang, and P. Peduzzi, "Robot-assisted therapy for long-term upper-limb impairment after stroke", *N Engl J Med*, vol. 362, no. 19, pp. 1772–83, 2010, ISSN: 1533-4406 (Electronic) 0028-4793 (Linking). DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0911341. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20400552http://www.nejm.org/doi/pdf/10.1056/NEJMoa0911341.
- [30] B. T. Volpe, H. I. Krebs, and N. Hogan, "Robot-aided sensorimotor training in stroke rehabilitation", *Adv Neurol*, vol. 92, pp. 429–33, 2003, ISSN: 0091-3952 (Print) 0091-3952 (Linking). [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/12760210.
- [31] P. Poli, G. Morone, G. Rosati, and S. Masiero, "Robotic technologies and rehabilitation: New tools for stroke patients' therapy", *Biomed Res Int*, vol. 2013, p. 153 872, 2013, ISSN: 2314-6141 (Electronic). DOI: 10.1155/2013/153872. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24350244http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3852950/pdf/BMRI2013-153872.pdf.
- [32] A. A. Blank, J. A. French, A. U. Pehlivan, and M. K. O'Malley, "Current trends in robot-assisted upper-limb stroke rehabilitation: Promoting patient engagement in therapy", *Curr Phys Med Rehabil Rep*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 184–195, 2014, ISSN: 2167-4833 (Print) 2167-4833 (Linking). DOI: 10.1007/s40141-014-0056-z. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4441271/pdf/nihms687138. pdf.
- [33] N. Hogan, H. I. Krebs, B. Rohrer, J. J. Palazzolo, L. Dipietro, S. E. Fasoli, J. Stein, R. Hughes, W. R. Frontera, D. Lynch, and B. T. Volpe, "Motions or muscles? some behavioral factors underlying robotic assistance of motor recovery", *J Rehabil Res Dev*, vol. 43, no. 5, pp. 605–18, 2006, ISSN: 1938-1352 (Electronic) 0748-7711 (Linking).
 [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17123202.
- [34] H. I. Krebs, B. Volpe, and N. Hogan, "A working model of stroke recovery from rehabilitation robotics practitioners", *J Neuroeng Rehabil*, vol. 6, p. 6, 2009, ISSN: 1743-0003 (Electronic) 1743-0003 (Linking). DOI: 10.1186/1743-0003-6-6.
 [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19243615.

- [35] B. R. Kim, M. H. Chun, L. S. Kim, and J. Y. Park, "Effect of virtual reality on cognition in stroke patients", Ann Rehabil Med, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 450–9, 2011, ISSN: 2234-0653 (Electronic) 2234-0645 (Linking). DOI: 10.5535/arm.2011.35.4.450. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22506159http: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3309247/pdf/arm-35-450.pdf.
- [36] Y. M. Kim, M. H. Chun, G. J. Yun, Y. J. Song, and H. E. Young, "The effect of virtual reality training on unilateral spatial neglect in stroke patients", Ann Rehabil Med, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 309–15, 2011, ISSN: 2234-0653 (Electronic) 2234-0645 (Linking). DOI: 10.5535/arm.2011.35.3.309. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22506138http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC3309210/pdf/arm-35-309.pdf.
- [37] S. A. Sisto, G. F. Forrest, and D. Glendinning, "Virtual reality applications for motor rehabilitation after stroke", *Topics in stroke rehabilitation*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 11–23, 2002.
- [38] E. B. Larson, M. Feigon, P. Gagliardo, and A. Y. Dvorkin, "Virtual reality and cognitive rehabilitation: A review of current outcome research", *NeuroRehabilitation*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 759–72, 2014, ISSN: 1878-6448 (Electronic) 1053-8135 (Linking). DOI: 10.3233/NRE-141078. [Online]. Available: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24820166http://iospress.metapress. com/content/fk1qv65m12192221/?genre=article&issn=1053-8135& volume=34&issue=4&spage=759http://content.iospress.com/ articles/neurorehabilitation/nre1078.
- [39] S. Cho, J. Ku, Y. K. Cho, I. Y. Kim, Y. J. Kang, D. P. Jang, and S. I. Kim, "Development of virtual reality proprioceptive rehabilitation system for stroke patients", *Comput Methods Programs Biomed*, vol. 113, no. 1, pp. 258–65, 2014, ISSN: 1872-7565 (Electronic) 0169-2607 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j.cmpb.2013.09.006. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24183070http: //www.cmpbjournal.com/article/S0169-2607 (13) 00305-2/pdf.
- [40] K. Laver, S. George, J. Ratcliffe, and M. Crotty, "Virtual reality stroke rehabilitationhype or hope?", *Australian occupational therapy journal*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 215–219, 2011.
- [41] B. T. Volpe, M. Ferraro, H. I. Krebs, and N. Hogan, "Robotics in the rehabilitation treatment of patients with stroke", *Curr Atheroscler Rep*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 270–6, 2002, ISSN: 1523-3804 (Print) 1523-3804 (Linking). [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12052277.
- [42] W. H. Chang and Y. H. Kim, "Robot-assisted therapy in stroke rehabilitation", J Stroke, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 174–81, 2013, ISSN: 2287-6391 (Print) 2287-6391 (Linking).
 DOI: 10.5853/jos.2013.15.3.174. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.

nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24396811http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC3859002/pdf/jos-15-174.pdf.

- [43] R. B. Cecatto, J. R. Maximino, and G. Chadi, "Motor recovery and cortical plasticity after functional electrical stimulation in a rat model of focal stroke", *Am J Phys Med Rehabil*, vol. 93, no. 9, pp. 791–800, 2014, ISSN: 1537-7385 (Electronic) 0894-9115 (Linking). DOI: 10.1097/PHM.00000000000104. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24800715.
- [44] C. H. Chou, Y. S. Hwang, C. C. Chen, S. C. Chen, C. H. Lai, and Y. L. Chen, "Fes for abnormal movement of upper limb during walking in post-stroke subjects", *Technol Health Care*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 751–8, 2014, ISSN: 1878-7401 (Electronic) 0928-7329 (Linking). DOI: 10.3233/THC-140836. [Online]. Available: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24990169http://content.iospress. com/articles/technology-and-health-care/thc00836.
- [45] C. Freeman, T. Exell, K. Meadmore, E. Hallewell, and A.-M. Hughes, "Computational models of upper-limb motion during functional reaching tasks for application in fes-based stroke rehabilitation", *Biomedical Engineering/Biomedizinische Technik*, 2014.
- [46] B. M. Young, J. Williams, and V. Prabhakaran, "Bci-fes: Could a new rehabilitation device hold fresh promise for stroke patients?", *Expert Rev Med Devices*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 537–9, 2014, ISSN: 1745-2422 (Electronic) 1743-4440 (Linking). DOI: 10. 1586/17434440.2014.941811. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/25060658http://informahealthcare.com/doi/ pdfplus/10.1586/17434440.2014.941811.
- [47] A. K. Vafadar, J. N. Cote, and P. S. Archambault, "Effectiveness of functional electrical stimulation in improving clinical outcomes in the upper arm following stroke: A systematic review and meta-analysis", *Biomed Res Int*, vol. 2015, p. 729768, 2015, ISSN: 2314-6141 (Electronic). DOI: 10.1155/2015/729768. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25685805http: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4317587/pdf/BMRI2015-729768.pdf.
- [48] N. Kawashima, M. R. Popovic, and V. Zivanovic, "Effect of intensive functional electrical stimulation therapy on upper-limb motor recovery after stroke: Case study of a patient with chronic stroke", *Physiother Can*, vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 20–8, 2013, ISSN: 0300-0508 (Print) 0300-0508 (Linking). DOI: 10.3138/ptc.2011-36. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24381377http: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3563372/pdf/ptc-65-020.pdf.

- [49] N. Takeuchi and S. Izumi, "Rehabilitation with poststroke motor recovery: A review with a focus on neural plasticity", *Stroke Res Treat*, vol. 2013, p. 128641, 2013, ISSN: 2090-8105 (Print). DOI: 10.1155/2013/128641. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23738231http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3659508/pdf/SRT2013-128641.pdf.
- [50] J. J. Shih, D. J. Krusienski, and J. R. Wolpaw, "Brain-computer interfaces in medicine", Mayo Clin Proc, vol. 87, no. 3, pp. 268–79, 2012, ISSN: 1942-5546 (Electronic) 0025-6196 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2011.12.008. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22325364http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3497935/pdf/main.pdf.
- [51] W. Wang, J. L. Collinger, M. A. Perez, E. C. Tyler-Kabara, L. G. Cohen, N. Birbaumer, S. W. Brose, A. B. Schwartz, M. L. Boninger, and D. J. Weber, "Neural interface technology for rehabilitation: Exploiting and promoting neuroplasticity", *Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 157–78, 2010, ISSN: 1558-1381 (Electronic) 1047-9651 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j.pmr.2009.07.003. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19951784http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2788507/pdf/nihms136474.pdf.
- [52] T. A. Kayagil, O. Bai, C. S. Henriquez, P. Lin, S. J. Furlani, S. Vorbach, and M. Hallett, "A binary method for simple and accurate two-dimensional cursor control from eeg with minimal subject training", *J Neuroeng Rehabil*, vol. 6, p. 14, 2009, ISSN: 1743-0003 (Electronic) 1743-0003 (Linking). DOI: 10.1186/1743-0003-6-14.
 [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19419576.
- [53] D. J. McFarland, D. J. Krusienski, W. A. Sarnacki, and J. R. Wolpaw, "Emulation of computer mouse control with a noninvasive brain-computer interface", *J Neural Eng*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 101–10, 2008, ISSN: 1741-2560 (Print) 1741-2552 (Linking). DOI: 10.1088/1741-2560/5/2/001. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18367779.
- [54] D. J. McFarland, W. A. Sarnacki, and J. R. Wolpaw, "Electroencephalographic (eeg) control of three-dimensional movement", *J Neural Eng*, vol. 7, no. 3, p. 036007, 2010, ISSN: 1741-2552 (Electronic) 1741-2552 (Linking). DOI: 10.1088/1741-2560/7/3/036007. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20460690.
- [55] G. R. Muller-Putz, R. Scherer, G. Pfurtscheller, and R. Rupp, "Eeg-based neuroprosthesis control: A step towards clinical practice", *Neurosci Lett*, vol. 382, no. 1-2, pp. 169–74, 2005, ISSN: 0304-3940 (Print) 0304-3940 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j. neulet.2005.03.021. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/15911143.

- [56] G. Pfurtscheller, C. Guger, G. Muller, G. Krausz, and C. Neuper, "Brain oscillations control hand orthosis in a tetraplegic", *Neurosci Lett*, vol. 292, no. 3, pp. 211–4, 2000, ISSN: 0304-3940 (Print) 0304-3940 (Linking). [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11018314.
- [57] F. Galan, M. Nuttin, E. Lew, P. W. Ferrez, G. Vanacker, J. Philips, and R. Millan Jdel, "A brain-actuated wheelchair: Asynchronous and non-invasive brain-computer interfaces for continuous control of robots", *Clin Neurophysiol*, vol. 119, no. 9, pp. 2159–69, 2008, ISSN: 1388-2457 (Print) 1388-2457 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j. clinph.2008.06.001. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/18621580.
- [58] Y. Munakata, A. Tanaka, and M. Wada, "A five-wheel wheelchair with an activecaster drive system", IEEE Int Conf Rehabil Robot, vol. 2013, p. 6650438, 2013, ISSN: 1945-7901 (Electronic) 1945-7898 (Linking). DOI: 10.1109/ICORR.2013. 6650438. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 24187256.
- [59] L. R. Hochberg, M. D. Serruya, G. M. Friehs, J. A. Mukand, M. Saleh, A. H. Caplan, A. Branner, D. Chen, R. D. Penn, and J. P. Donoghue, "Neuronal ensemble control of prosthetic devices by a human with tetraplegia", *Nature*, vol. 442, no. 7099, pp. 164–71, 2006, ISSN: 1476-4687 (Electronic) 0028-0836 (Linking). DOI: 10.1038/nature04970. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/16838014.
- [60] D. M. Taylor, S. I. Tillery, and A. B. Schwartz, "Direct cortical control of 3d neuro-prosthetic devices", *Science*, vol. 296, no. 5574, pp. 1829–32, 2002, ISSN: 1095-9203 (Electronic) 0036-8075 (Linking). DOI: 10.1126/science.1070291. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12052948.
- [61] E. W. Sellers and E. Donchin, "A p300-based brain-computer interface: Initial tests by als patients", *Clin Neurophysiol*, vol. 117, no. 3, pp. 538–48, 2006, ISSN: 1388-2457 (Print) 1388-2457 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j.clinph.2005.06.027. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16461003.
- [62] M. Velliste, S. Perel, M. C. Spalding, A. S. Whitford, and A. B. Schwartz, "Cortical control of a prosthetic arm for self-feeding", *Nature*, vol. 453, no. 7198, pp. 1098–101, 2008, ISSN: 1476-4687 (Electronic) 0028-0836 (Linking). DOI: 10.1038/nature06996.
 [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18509337.
- [63] J. R. Wolpaw and D. J. McFarland, "Control of a two-dimensional movement signal by a noninvasive brain-computer interface in humans", *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 101, no. 51, pp. 17849–54, 2004, ISSN: 0027-8424 (Print) 0027-8424 (Linking). DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0403504101. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15585584.

- [64] J. Mellinger, G. Schalk, C. Braun, H. Preissl, W. Rosenstiel, N. Birbaumer, and A. Kubler, "An meg-based brain-computer interface (bci)", *Neuroimage*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 581–93, 2007, ISSN: 1053-8119 (Print) 1053-8119 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.03.019. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17475511.
- [65] J. H. Lee, J. Ryu, F. A. Jolesz, Z. H. Cho, and S. S. Yoo, "Brain-machine interface via real-time fmri: Preliminary study on thought-controlled robotic arm", *Neurosci Lett*, vol. 450, no. 1, pp. 1–6, 2009, ISSN: 0304-3940 (Print) 0304-3940 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j.neulet.2008.11.024. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19026717.
- [66] G. Morone, I. Pisotta, F. Pichiorri, S. Kleih, S. Paolucci, M. Molinari, F. Cincotti, A. Kubler, and D. Mattia, "Proof of principle of a brain-computer interface approach to support poststroke arm rehabilitation in hospitalized patients: Design, acceptability, and usability", Arch Phys Med Rehabil, vol. 96, no. 3 Suppl, S71–8, 2015, ISSN: 1532-821X (Electronic) 0003-9993 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j.apmr. 2014.05.026. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/25721550http://www.archives-pmr.org/article/S0003-9993 (14) 01011-9/pdf.
- [67] L. E. van Dokkum, T. Ward, and I. Laffont, "Brain computer interfaces for neurorehabilitation its current status as a rehabilitation strategy post-stroke", Ann Phys Rehabil Med, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 3–8, 2015, ISSN: 1877-0665 (Electronic) 1877-0657 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j.rehab.2014.09.016. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25614021http://ac.els-cdn.com/S1877065714018338/1-s2.0-S1877065714018338-main.pdf?_tid=a6872412-2d96-11e5-a6ef-00000aab0f27&acdnat=1437256256_3317f2d4a323c9170255e2e9829f1f6b.
- [68] G. Pfurtscheller, G. R. Muller, J. Pfurtscheller, H. J. Gerner, and R. Rupp, "'thought'control of functional electrical stimulation to restore hand grasp in a patient with tetraplegia", *Neurosci Lett*, vol. 351, no. 1, pp. 33–6, 2003, ISSN: 0304-3940 (Print) 0304-3940 (Linking). [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/14550907.
- [69] P. Celnik, K. Stefan, F. Hummel, J. Duque, J. Classen, and L. G. Cohen, "Encoding a motor memory in the older adult by action observation", *Neuroimage*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 677–84, 2006, ISSN: 1053-8119 (Print) 1053-8119 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.07.039. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16125417.
- [70] M. Lotze and L. G. Cohen, "Volition and imagery in neurorehabilitation", Cogn Behav Neurol, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 135–40, 2006, ISSN: 1543-3633 (Print) 1543-3633

(Linking). DOI: 10.1097/01.wnn.0000209875.56060.06. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16957491.

- [71] K. Stefan, J. Classen, P. Celnik, and L. G. Cohen, "Concurrent action observation modulates practice-induced motor memory formation", *Eur J Neurosci*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 730–8, 2008, ISSN: 1460-9568 (Electronic) 0953-816X (Linking). DOI: 10. 1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06035.x. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18279325.
- [72] L. Sörnmo and P. Laguna, *Bioelectrical signal processing in cardiac and neurological applications*. Academic Press, 2005.
- [73] K. Rogers, The Brain and the Nervous System, ser. The human body. Britannica Educational Pub., 2010, ISBN: 9781615301362. [Online]. Available: https://books. google.pt/books?id=BqLutx63LukC.
- [74] M. Bear, B. Connors, and M. Paradiso, *Neuroscience: Exploring the Brain*, ser. Neuroscience: Exploring the Brain. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2007, ISBN: 9780781760034.
 [Online]. Available: https://books.google.pt/books?id=75NgwLzueikC.
- [75] G. Rizzolatti, "The mirror neuron system and its function in humans", Brain Structure and Function (Anatomy and Embryology 1891-2006), vol. 210, 5-6 Dec. 2005. DOI: 10.1007/s00429-005-0039-z. [Online]. Available: http://libgen.org/ scimag/index.php?s=10.1007/s00429-005-0039-z.
- [76] G. Rizzolatti, "Encyclopedia of behavioral neuroscience || mirror neuron mechanism", in. 2010. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-08-045396-5.00212-8. [Online]. Available: http://libgen.org/scimag/index.php?s=10.1016/B978-0-08-045396-5.00212-8.
- [77] D. Carvalho, S. Teixeira, M. Lucas, T. F. Yuan, F. Chaves, C. Peressutti, S. Machado, J. Bittencourt, M. Menendez-Gonzalez, A. E. Nardi, B. Velasques, M. Cagy, R. Piedade, P. Ribeiro, and O. Arias-Carrion, "The mirror neuron system in post-stroke rehabilitation", *Int Arch Med*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. 41, 2013, ISSN: 1755-7682 (Electronic) 1755-7682 (Linking). DOI: 10.1186/1755-7682-6-41. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24134862http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4016580/pdf/1755-7682-6-41.pdf.
- [78] M. E. Michielsen, R. W. Selles, J. N. van der Geest, M. Eckhardt, G. Yavuzer, H. J. Stam, M. Smits, G. M. Ribbers, and J. B. Bussmann, "Motor recovery and cortical reorganization after mirror therapy in chronic stroke patients: A phase ii randomized controlled trial", *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 223–33, 2011, ISSN: 1552-6844 (Electronic) 1545-9683 (Linking). DOI: 10.1177/1545968310385127.
 [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21051765http://nnr.sagepub.com/content/25/3/223.long.

- [79] J. M. Cassidy, B. T. Gillick, and J. R. Carey, "Priming the brain to capitalize on metaplasticity in stroke rehabilitation", *Phys Ther*, vol. 94, no. 1, pp. 139–50, 2014, ISSN: 1538-6724 (Electronic) 0031-9023 (Linking). DOI: 10.2522/ptj.20130027. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23950225http: //ptjournal.apta.org/content/94/1/139.full.pdf.
- [80] H. I. Chen, M. Attiah, G. Baltuch, D. H. Smith, R. H. Hamilton, and T. H. Lucas, "Harnessing plasticity for the treatment of neurosurgical disorders: An overview", *World neurosurgery*, vol. 82, no. 5, pp. 648–659, 2014.
- [81] Y. Hara, "Brain plasticity and rehabilitation in stroke patients", J Nippon Med Sch, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 4–13, 2015, ISSN: 1347-3409 (Electronic) 1345-4676 (Linking). DOI: 10.1272/jnms.82.4. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/25797869https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/ jnms/82/1/82_4/_pdf.
- [82] J. J. Overman and S. T. Carmichael, "Plasticity in the injured brain: More than molecules matter", *Neuroscientist*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 15–28, 2014, ISSN: 1089-4098 (Electronic) 1073-8584 (Linking). DOI: 10.1177/1073858413491146. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23757300http://nro.sagepub.com/content/20/1/15.full.pdf.
- [83] N. Takeuchi, Y. Oouchida, and S. Izumi, "Motor control and neural plasticity through interhemispheric interactions", *Neural Plast*, vol. 2012, p. 823 285, 2012, ISSN: 1687-5443 (Electronic). DOI: 10.1155/2012/823285. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23326685http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3541646/pdf/NP2012-823285.pdf.
- [84] L. Avanzino, N. Gueugneau, A. Bisio, P. Ruggeri, C. Papaxanthis, and M. Bove, "Motor cortical plasticity induced by motor learning through mental practice", *Front Behav Neurosci*, vol. 9, p. 105, 2015, ISSN: 1662-5153 (Electronic) 1662-5153 (Linking). DOI: 10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00105. [Online]. Available: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25972791http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pmc/articles/PMC4412065/pdf/fnbeh-09-00105.pdf.
- [85] S. R. Zeiler and J. W. Krakauer, "The interaction between training and plasticity in the poststroke brain", *Curr Opin Neurol*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 609–16, 2013, ISSN: 1473-6551 (Electronic) 1350-7540 (Linking). DOI: 10.1097/WCO.0000000000000025. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24136129http: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4012223/pdf/nihms-568973.pdf.
- [86] N. Gueugneau, M. Bove, L. Avanzino, A. Jacquin, T. Pozzo, and C. Papaxanthis, "Interhemispheric inhibition during mental actions of different complexity", *PLoS One*, vol. 8, no. 2, e56973, 2013, ISSN: 1932-6203 (Electronic) 1932-6203 (Linking). DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0056973. [Online]. Available: http://www.

ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23451125http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pmc/articles/PMC3581568/pdf/pone.0056973.pdf.

- [87] N. Gueugneau, S. I. Mc Cabe, J. I. Villalta, S. T. Grafton, and V. Della-Maggiore, "Direct mapping rather than motor prediction subserves modulation of corticospinal excitability during observation of actions in real time", *J Neurophysiol*, vol. 113, no. 10, pp. 3700–7, 2015, ISSN: 1522-1598 (Electronic) 0022-3077 (Linking). DOI: 10.1152/jn.00416.2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25810483http://jn.physiology.org/content/113/10/3700.long.
- [88] T. Kitago and R. S. Marshall, "Strategies for early stroke recovery: What lies ahead?", *Current treatment options in cardiovascular medicine*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2015.
- [89] S. Prabhakaran, E. Zarahn, C. Riley, A. Speizer, J. Y. Chong, R. M. Lazar, R. S. Marshall, and J. W. Krakauer, "Inter-individual variability in the capacity for motor recovery after ischemic stroke", *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 64–71, 2008, ISSN: 1545-9683 (Print) 1545-9683 (Linking). DOI: 10.1177/1545968307305302. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17687024.
- [90] J. D. Bronzino, "Principles of electroencephalography", *The Biomedical Engineering Handbook*, vol. 1, 1995.
- [91] M. Chaumon, D. V. Bishop, and N. A. Busch, "A practical guide to the selection of independent components of the electroencephalogram for artifact correction", J Neurosci Methods, vol. 250, pp. 47–63, 2015, ISSN: 1872-678X (Electronic) 0165-0270 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2015.02.025. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25791012.
- [92] O. Faust, U. R. Acharya, H. Adeli, and A. Adeli, "Wavelet-based eeg processing for computer-aided seizure detection and epilepsy diagnosis", *Seizure*, vol. 26, pp. 56–64, 2015, ISSN: 1532-2688 (Electronic) 1059-1311 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/ j.seizure.2015.01.012. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/25799903.
- [93] M. K. Kim, M. Kim, E. Oh, and S. P. Kim, "A review on the computational methods for emotional state estimation from the human eeg", *Comput Math Methods Med*, vol. 2013, p. 573734, 2013, ISSN: 1748-6718 (Electronic) 1748-670X (Linking). DOI: 10.1155/2013/573734. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23634176.
- [94] S. Sanei and J. Chambers, EEG Signal Processing. Wiley, 2008, ISBN: 9780470511930. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.pt/books?id=vIuCV2IKwasC.

- [95] G. Pfurtscheller, C. Brunner, A. Schlogl, and F. H. Lopes da Silva, "Mu rhythm (de)synchronization and eeg single-trial classification of different motor imagery tasks", *Neuroimage*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 153–9, 2006, ISSN: 1053-8119 (Print) 1053-8119 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.12.003. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16443377http:// ac.els-cdn.com/S1053811905025140/1-s2.0-S1053811905025140main.pdf?_tid=a228331a-700f-11e4-97d2-00000aacb361&acdnat= 1416417497_1c8abbf16059122e3827fe9dadcc1fca.
- [96] L. F. Nicolas-Alonso and J. Gomez-Gil, "Brain computer interfaces, a review", Sensors (Basel), vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 1211–79, 2012, ISSN: 1424-8220 (Electronic) 1424-8220 (Linking). DOI: 10.3390/s120201211. [Online]. Available: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22438708http://www.mdpi.com/1424-8220/12/2/1211/pdf.
- [97] C. Neuper, M. Wortz, and G. Pfurtscheller, "Erd/ers patterns reflecting sensorimotor activation and deactivation", *Prog Brain Res*, vol. 159, pp. 211–22, 2006, ISSN: 0079-6123 (Print) 0079-6123 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/S0079-6123(06) 59014-4. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 17071233http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0079612306590144.
- [98] G. Pfurtscheller, C. Brunner, A. Schlogl, and F. H. Lopes da Silva, "Mu rhythm (de)synchronization and eeg single-trial classification of different motor imagery tasks", *Neuroimage*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 153–9, 2006, ISSN: 1053-8119 (Print) 1053-8119 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.12.003. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16443377http:// ac.els-cdn.com/S1053811905025140/1-s2.0-S1053811905025140main.pdf?_tid=a228331a-700f-11e4-97d2-00000aacb361&acdnat= 1416417497_1c8abbf16059122e3827fe9dadcc1fca.
- [99] G. Pfurtscheller and C. Neuper, "Future prospects of erd/ers in the context of braincomputer interface (bci) developments", *Prog Brain Res*, vol. 159, pp. 433–7, 2006, ISSN: 0079-6123 (Print) 0079-6123 (Linking). DOI: 10.1016/S0079-6123(06) 59028-4. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 17071247http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0079612306590284.
- [100] H. Yuan and B. He, "Brain-computer interfaces using sensorimotor rhythms: Current state and future perspectives", *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*, vol. 61, no. 5, pp. 1425–35, 2014, ISSN: 1558-2531 (Electronic) 0018-9294 (Linking). DOI: 10.1109/TBME. 2014.2312397. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24759276http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4082720/pdf/nihms-605511.pdf.

- J. L. M. T. Hippe Zdzisław S.; Kulikowski, "[advances in intelligent and soft computing] human computer systems interaction: Backgrounds and applications 2 volume 98 || eeg signal processing for bci applications", in. 2012, vol. 10.1007/978-3-642-23187-2, ISBN: 978-3-642-23186-5,978-3-642-23187-2. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-23187-2_36. [Online]. Available: http://libgen.org/scimag/index.php?s=10.1007/978-3-642-23187-2_36.
- [102] X. Yong and C. Menon, "Eeg classification of different imaginary movements within the same limb", PLoS One, vol. 10, no. 4, e0121896, 2015, ISSN: 1932-6203 (Electronic) 1932-6203 (Linking). DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0121896. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25830611http: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4382224/pdf/pone. 0121896.pdf.
- [103] R. Ortner, D. C. Irimia, J. Scharinger, and C. Guger, "A motor imagery based braincomputer interface for stroke rehabilitation", *Stud Health Technol Inform*, vol. 181, pp. 319–23, 2012, ISSN: 0926-9630 (Print) 0926-9630 (Linking). [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22954880.
- [104] V. Kaiser, I. Daly, F. Pichiorri, D. Mattia, G. R. Muller-Putz, and C. Neuper, "Relationship between electrical brain responses to motor imagery and motor impairment in stroke", *Stroke*, vol. 43, no. 10, pp. 2735–40, 2012, ISSN: 1524-4628 (Electronic) 0039-2499 (Linking). DOI: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.665489. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22895995http: //stroke.ahajournals.org/content/43/10/2735.full.pdf.
- [105] J. Deng, J. Yao, and J. P. Dewald, "Classification of the intention to generate a shoulder versus elbow torque by means of a time-frequency synthesized spatial patterns bci algorithm", *J Neural Eng*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 131–8, 2005, ISSN: 1741-2560 (Print) 1741-2552 (Linking). DOI: 10.1088/1741-2560/2/4/009. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16317237.
- [106] A. Vuckovic and F. Sepulveda, "Delta band contribution in cue based single trial classification of real and imaginary wrist movements", *Med Biol Eng Comput*, vol. 46, no. 6, pp. 529–39, 2008, ISSN: 0140-0118 (Print) 0140-0118 (Linking). DOI: 10. 1007/s11517-008-0345-8. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18418635.
- [107] G. Mueller-Putz, R. Scherer, C. Brunner, R. Leeb, and G. Pfurtscheller, "Better than random: A closer look on bci results.", *International Journal of Bioelectromagnetism*, vol. 10, no. EPFL-ARTICLE-164768, pp. 52–55, 2008.
- [108] S. S. Gupta, S. Soman, P. G. Raj, and R. Prakash, "Improved classification of motor imagery datasets for bci by using approximate entropy and wosf features", in *Signal Processing and Integrated Networks (SPIN)*, 2014 International Conference on, IEEE, 2014, pp. 90–94.

- [109] I. Guyon and A. Elisseeff, "An introduction to variable and feature selection", J. Mach. Learn. Res., vol. 3, pp. 1157–1182, Mar. 2003, ISSN: 1532-4435. [Online]. Available: http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=944919.944968.
- [110] M.-C. Dobrea, D. M. Dobrea, and D. Alexa, "Spectral eeg features and tasks selection process: Some considerations toward bci applications", in *Multimedia Signal Processing (MMSP)*, 2010 IEEE International Workshop on, IEEE, 2010, pp. 150–155.
- [111] A. Bashashati, M. Fatourechi, R. K. Ward, and G. E. Birch, "A survey of signal processing algorithms in brain–computer interfaces based on electrical brain signals", *Journal of Neural engineering*, vol. 4, no. 2, R32, 2007.
- [112] Emotiv. (2010). Emotiv's homepage, [Online]. Available: http://www.emotiv. com/. (visited on 07/27/2015).
- [113] A. Hoffmann, "Eeg signal processing and emotiv's neuro headset", *Hessen: Sn*, 2010.
- [114] M. V. Studio. (2015). Free dev tools visual studio community 2013, [Online]. Available: https://www.visualstudio.com/en-us/news/vs2013community-vs.aspx (visited on 07/27/2015).
- [115] C. Souza. (2014). The accord.net framework, [Online]. Available: http://accordframework.net (visited on 07/27/2015).
- [116] G. Schalk, D. J. McFarland, T. Hinterberger, N. Birbaumer, and J. R. Wolpaw, "Bci2000: A general-purpose brain-computer interface (bci) system", *Biomedical Engineering, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 51, no. 6, pp. 1034–1043, 2004.
- [117] A. L. Goldberger, L. A. Amaral, L. Glass, J. M. Hausdorff, P. C. Ivanov, R. G. Mark, J. E. Mietus, G. B. Moody, C.-K. Peng, and H. E. Stanley, "Physiobank, physiotoolkit, and physionet components of a new research resource for complex physiologic signals", *Circulation*, vol. 101, no. 23, e215–e220, 2000.
- [118] U. G. Engine. (2015). Unity3d.com, [Online]. Available: https://unity3d.com/ (visited on 07/31/2015).



EMOTIVBCI USER GUIDE

A.1 Getting started

Before launching the EmotivBCI application, place the Emotiv headset and make sure all the electrodes are in contact with the scalp. Verify beforehand if all pads on the electrodes are moisturized with a saline solution. Next, open *Testbench* and certify that all signals are steady. Wait a few seconds for the system to stabilize. After you have completed these steps, open the EmotivBCI application.

A.2 Registering and Logging in

If you have never used the EmotivBCI before, you will have to register. Type in the console *newuser*. Fill in your name, age, username and password. After registering you can login with your new credentials. Simply type *login* in the console and enter your credentials. If you had registered before you can skip the first step, and login right away.

A.3 New Training Session

Once you have successfully logged in, you can perform training sessions. Type *newtraining* in the console window. There are 4 training options to choose from:

- 1. Left hand motor action;
- 2. Right hand motor action;
- 3. Left hand motor imagery;
- 4. Right hand motor imagery;

Type in the number correspondent to the training option you want. Next, you are prompted to select the training paradigm:

- 1. 5-second-rest-5-second-action;
- 2. 2-second-rest-2-second-action;

Likewise, select the number that corresponds to the training paradigm you want. Once you have selected the training paradigm, sit back, relax, avoid facial movement and perform the action prompted by the console window. Depending on the training option and paradigm, the action and the repetitions' time will vary.

A.3.1 Training Session Performance

After 2 minutes, the training session concludes, and a classification accuracy will be displayed, along with the features and the classifier used. From here, you have several options to assess your performance. The following features generate plots in a pdf format.

A.3.2 Generate Feature Map

You can generate a feature map based on the acquisition, which shows the activity of each channel with respect to frequency. Type *generatefeatmap* on the console. Wait until the pdf document is generated displaying the feature map. You can close it whenever you want, it will be saved in your directory.

A.3.3 Generate Channel Power Spectral Density

You can generate a power spectrum density plot for any of the 8 channels used in the acquisition. For this, type *generatechpsd* on the console. You will be asked if you want to generate a PSD plot for the best channel extracted. Type *yes* if that is the channel you want. If not, type *no*, and type in the number correspondent to the channel you want. Again, wait until a pdf document is generated. A Periodogram and Welch Power Estimation will be presented and saved in your directory.

A.3.4 Generate Classifier Data

Finally, you can generate a plot with the data points from the attributes that were used for classification. Type *generateclassdata* on the console. As in the previous features, wait for the pdf document to open. You can close it whenever you wish, since it is saved in your directory.

A.3.5 Online BCI

If you achieved a classification accuracy greater than 90% you can attempt to perform real-time BCI testing. For this, type *onlinebci*. A different text will be displayed on the console with respect to your action.

A.4 Useful commands

Apart from the main features just mentioned, there are a few commands which you may find useful. You can browse through previous training sessions you performed, and see your performance. These are listed as records. To do so, type *listrecords*. If you haven't already, you can generate any of the plots mentioned for any of the records. To do so, type *loadrecord* and enter the *ID* of the training session you want. The *ID* is displayed at the top of each training session, and it specifies the training option and training paradigm you selected for that session. You can export the EEG data in CSV format by typing *exportrecord* on the console window. A CSV file will be generated in your directory, properly labelled. If you are unsure of any of the commands used to control the EmotivBCI you can simply type *help* and a full list of commands and respective descriptions will be displayed.

You can perform a new training session at any time, by typing *newtraining*. If you have concluded all the tests you meant to perform, just type *logout* and to close the application type *quit*.



REHAB 2015: DEVELOPMENT OF A NON-INVASIVE BRAIN COMPUTER INTERFACE FOR NEUROREHABILITATION

Development of a Non-invasive Brain Computer Interface for Neurorehabilitation

Rui Dinis Pinto Inst. Biophysics and Biomedical Eng. Fac. Sciences Univ. Lisbon Lisboa, Portugal +351 217500177

rd.pinto@campus.fct.unl.pt

Hugo Alexandre Ferreira Inst. Biophysics and Biomedical Eng. Fac. Sciences Univ. Lisbon Lisboa, Portugal +351 217500177

hhferreira@fc.ul.pt

ABSTRACT

Neurological disorders, in particular Stroke, have a substantial impact on a great number of individuals worldwide. These individuals are often left with residual motor control in their upper limbs. Although conventional therapy can aid in restoring some of the lost movement, it is not always accessible, and the procedures are dull and unappealing for the patient. Novel methods of therapy are being developed, including Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs).

This document introduces the EmotivBCI: a simple and accessible platform for EEG acquisition, processing and classification of brain signals with respect to motor action and motor imagery. The acquisition of EEG is done through 8 channels of the *Emotiv Epoc* headset. Signals are pre-processed, and the 2 best combinations of channel/frequency pairs that exhibit the greatest power difference between the rest and action conditions are extracted. These features are then used to build a feature matrix with 2 sets of attributes and 2 class labels. Finally this data is used to train 4 different classifiers.

As an early assessment phase, 6 healthy subjects tested each of the training paradigms. Although it is a project still in progress, it has shown promising results.

Keywords

BCI, Emotiv, EEG, Neurorehabilitation, Motor Imagery, Signal Processing, Feature Extraction and Classification, Stroke.

1. INTRODUCTION

Stroke is the second largest cause of death in the world and is also one of the leading causes of disability in adults. In the United States approximately 795,000 people are affected every year [1]. One of the most common non-hemorrhagic stroke is the middle cerebral artery stroke, which mainly affects the upper limb [2].

The therapy for upper limb disabilities varies depending on severity. If patients have a high enough degree of residual control, then techniques like *shaping* and constraint-induced movement therapy (CIMT) are applied. Patients that have weaker hand movement and control often use commercially available forearm-hand orthotic devices with electric stimulation [3].

Ongoing research focuses on the use of mechanical devices in combination with other rehabilitative therapies such as noninvasive brain stimulation to achieve a higher efficacy in rehabilitation of patients after stroke [1]. Among these, Brain-Computer Interfaces are also being explored as a mean of neurorehabilitation [4], showing potential to revolutionize how neurological diseases, mainly stroke, are treated in the future. Brain-Computer interfaces (BCIs) are systems that enable brain activity to manipulate external devices. One type of BCI is the noninvasive BCI, which acquires brain signals from scalp Electroencephalography (EEG), for example [5]. EEG is a technique in which electrical potentials produced in the brain are recorded with high temporal resolution. The EEG is able to record rhythmic electrical activity from the human scalp. There are particular ranges of frequencies that are associated with sensory motor actions namely the Mu (8Hz-12Hz) and Beta (15Hz-30Hz) rhythms. The planning and execution of hand movement can be observed within these frequencies in the form of Event-Related Desynchronization/ Event-Related Synchronization (ERD/ERS) signals [6]. These consist of a difference in power in the Mu and Beta frequencies. Although these phenomena can be difficult to observe in EEG, due to the abundance of unwanted artefacts, advances in equipment and signal processing algorithms have made it extremely convenient to use ERD/ERS of Mu and Beta rhythms to develop BCIs controlled by motor actions, including motor imagery i.e. imagination of the movement of a limb.

To further validate the use of BCI in neurorehabilitation, studies have shown that motor imagery activates sensorimotor regions similarly to actual task performance, and repeated practice of motor imagery can induce plasticity changes in the brain [7]. This may be the key to a new rehabilitation methodology that aims at restoring lost function in a limb due to neurological disorders, such as Stroke.

There are, however, several factors that hinder the usage of BCI systems in clinical settings. Most non-invasive BCIs acquire EEG data from electrode caps with multiple wires, which are unattractive and uncomfortable. They also come with extra hardware for signal amplification, and take too much time to set up. Although these systems provide high resolution, they are often expensive, and end up disregarded as a rehabilitative solution. The EmotivBCI tackles these drawbacks by designing a highly portable, easy to set up BCI thanks to the *Emotiv Epoc* headset.

2. RELATED WORK

The following subsections describe a successful BCI application and the role of Virtual reality in rehabilitation.

2.1 Mechanic hand BCI

Fok et al, [8] designed an EEG-based BCI that drives a hand orthotic that opens and closes a patient's hand using ipsilateral activity of the brain. The purpose of the device is to aid in rehabilitation of stroke patients that are left with residual motor function in one hand. The signals from the scalp were acquired through a portable EEG headset: *Emotiv Epoc*. After a calibration phase, we were able to determine relevant EEG features to distinguish movement from rest, and reducing the number of electrode channels and frequency bins to undergo further processing. Finally a pre-fabricated orthotic hand was modified to be controlled by the output of the classification algorithms, opening and closing depending on the output signal.

Through 10 sets of trials, consisting of moving a cursor to a target by imagining left hand movement, with healthy individuals, we were able to achieve an 81.3% success rate.

2.2 Virtual Reality

Virtual Reality (VR) is a computer interface that allows individuals to interact with a 3D environment by presenting stimulated or artificially generated sensory information [9]. Virtual Reality is an alternate or complementary rehabilitation method to BCI, which also promises to help rehabilitate Stroke patients. It differs from BCI because it doesn't usually take brain signals as an input, but rather movement that is captured through proper motion tracking equipment.

The main focus of VR rehabilitation is to simulate real world tasks into a virtual platform, so that stroke patients with motor impairments can practice such tasks safely and transfer the performance of the virtual task onto the real world.

3. TECHINAL DETAILS

3.1 Overview

The EmotivBCI is essentially a proof-of-concept of a simple BCI console platform developed in C# programming language. It acquires EEG signals from 8 electrode channels in the central and frontal cortices of the brain according to the 10-20 system (AF3, F7, F3, FC5, FC6, F4, F8, AF4) through the commercially available EEG headset: *Emotiv Epoc*. The Emotiv Epoc has 14 electrode channels, and a sampling frequency of 128 Hz. It also has built-in filters at 50 and 60Hz. Its wireless connectivity with a 2.4 GHz band makes it extremely portable and simple to use.

The acquired signals are processed and relevant features are extracted to build a classifier based on ERD/ERS due to movement or imagery of upper limbs (left and right hands). It also implements real-time testing with the built-in classifiers.

The EmotivBCI comes with a number of features, some of which will be described in the subsequent sections.

3.2 Operation

The way the EmotivBCI works is the following: A user registers and logs in with his credentials. Afterwards he or she can perform a training session.

3.2.1 Training Sessions

The EmotivBCI provides four different training paradigms: Left hand motor action, right hand motor action, left hand motor

Permission to make digital or hard copies of all or part of this work for personal or classroom use is granted without fee provided that copies are not made or distributed for profit or commercial advantage and that copies bear this notice and the full citation on the first page. To copy otherwise, or republish, to post on servers or to redistribute to lists, requires prior specific permission.

CSE 4810 - Final Report

imagery and right hand motor imagery. All paradigms follow the same procedure: It's a 2-minute long run. Each run has 12 trials, which are 10 seconds long: 5 seconds of rest plus 5 seconds of action. The action is dictated by the chosen training paradigm. The user is prompted to follow the instructions that are displayed on the console.

3.2.2 Signal Processing

Signal processing is carried out with the support of *Matlab* wrapped functions in a non-parametric fashion. Once acquired, signals from each channel are pre-processed with C# built functions that remove the DC component and normalize the signal. The signal is then ready for feature extraction.

3.2.2.1 Processing Methods

The EmotivBCI has two different methods of processing the data. The first method uses the entire time interval (5 seconds) of each condition. The second method of processing consists of selecting only the initial number of samples for each condition, in contrast to the whole 5 seconds of method 1.

The number of samples implemented for extraction are:

- 13 samples ~ 100 ms.
- 26 samples ~ 200 ms.
- 39 samples ~ 300 ms.
- 69 samples = 500 ms.
- 128 samples = 1 s.

For each number of samples, the feature extraction cascade is the same as method 1.

3.2.3 Feature Extraction

The EmotivBCI extracts the 2 best combinations of channel/frequency that exhibit the greatest ERD over the 12 trials. For each channel the pre-processed EEG signal is segmented into two distinct signals for each condition: Rest and Action. Depending on the processing method the number of samples in the Rest and Action vectors are different.

The signals are then filtered using a 10^{th} -order double bandpass Chebyshev Type 1 filter in the frequency bands that exhibit ERD: 7Hz to 13Hz (Mu) and 15Hz to 30Hz (Beta).

Once filtered, the Power spectrum density (PSD) is estimated using the Welch method for each of the conditions in every channel: PSD(rest) and PSD(action).

The difference PSD(rest)-PSD(action) is calculated to predict the channel and frequency that show the greatest difference, hence the greatest ERD.

The two best combinations of channel/frequency are used to build the feature matrix for the classifier. The best channels may be the same. If so it exhibits ERD in two distinct frequencies.

3.2.4 Feature Matrix

The feature matrix is calculated for the best channels, by computing the band power centered in the respective best frequency. The data from each of the 2 best channels is again separated into rest and action conditions, and buffered into frames.

For each frame, the band power centered in the best frequency, with the range of 1 Hz, is computed.

The resulting matrix consists of a set of band power values for the rest state, which corresponds to output -1, and a set of band power values for the action state, which corresponds to output +1.

In the case of the first method of processing, the data after separation is buffered into 128 samples -1 second. Since each trial has 5 seconds of each condition (rest and action), then the resulting feature matrix will have 60 band power values (12 trials x 5 band power values) for each condition, 120 total.

In the case of the second method of processing, the rest and action conditions are separated using the stipulated number of samples, and buffered into the same amount. It will therefore result in less number of inputs. 12 for each condition, and 24 total.

The resulting feature matrix will therefore consist of 2 sets of attributes: band power values for combination of channel/frequency number 1, and band power values for combination of channel/frequency number 2.

3.2.5 Classification

The feature matrix is used to train 4 different classifiers, implemented using the Accord Framework [10]. Accord Framework provides machine-learning libraries available for C#:

- Linear Support Vector Machine
- Gaussian Support Vector Machine
- Naïve Bayes
- Decision Tree

The resulting classification accuracy represents the number of correctly classified samples over the total number of samples multiplied by 100%.

3.2.6 End of training session

The processing cascade will result in a large number of classifiers built for each method: 4 for method 1, and 20 (5 sample sizes x 4 classifiers) for method 2. From these 24, only the one that yields the best accuracy is selected to validate the training session and posteriorly to be used for real-time BCI. The relevant features extracted and processing method are registered for that training session based on the classifier as well.

3.2.7 Real-time BCI

EmotivBCI offers the functionality of real-time BCI after a user has performed a training session. The data being acquired is processed every second, by computing the band power value in the channel and frequency extracted from the training session, and classified as rest or action, based on the selected classifier. In case of processing method 2, the data is still processed every second, but it's only selected the number of samples stipulated. At the moment, the EmotivBCI will display a different message based on the action the user is attempting to perform.

3.2.8 Other features

Besides classification of signals and real-time time testing, the EmotivBCI platform offers more features, some of which are worth mentioning:

- Feature map generation: Plot that shows the Power difference in each channel with respect to frequency. The extracted features are based on this feature map.
- Channel PSD generation: For any given channel, a Fast-Fourier, Burg PSD estimate, and Welch PSD plots are generated for conditions rest and action. These often show a clear representation of the ERD.
- Classifier data plot generation: Generates a scatter plot based on the feature matrix with the 2 classes used for classification.

4. EVALUATION AND RESULTS

In order to access the current state of the EmotivBCI, 6 healthy subjects, between the ages of 22 to 37, conducted a training session for each of the 4 training paradigms. The respective classification accuracies are presented below:

 Table 1. Classification accuracies (%) of 6 different subjects
 for each training option. Avg = average

Training Option	Sub 1	Sub 2	Sub 3	Sub 4	Sub 5	Sub 6	Avg
Left hand motor	83.3	75.0	75.0	83.3	91.6	79.2	81.2
Right hand motor	75.0	79.2	75.0	70.8	83.3	79.2	77.1
Left hand imagery	79.2	75.0	87.5	83.3	79.2	70.8	79.2
Right hand imagery	75.0	79.2	87.5	75.0	83.3	75.0	79.2

For subject 4 that achieved an 83.3% accuracy in left hand motor classification, the typical Power Spectrum Density plot of the channel that was used for feature extraction is presented:



Figure 1: PSD plot for channel F3 of Subject 4

5. DISCUSSION

From the 2 processing methods implemented, all the best classification accuracies resulted from the second one, even though the number of samples varied within subjects and training options. This suggests that ERD is greatest at the start of the action condition. This may be due to the inability of the subjects to maintain a steady state of concentration during rest and action.

EmotivBCI can generate the PSD plot of any channel. This represents the Power characteristics of the rest and action conditions for the entire duration of the training session. Figure 1 shows the PSD plot for one of the subjects that achieved an 83.3%

classification accuracy. It can be observed from the plot a clear difference in the Mu frequency band between the rest and action conditions i.e. ERD.

The real-time BCI functionality has not been proven to be coherent as of this moment. The subject that achieved the classification accuracy of 91.6%, in the left motor action training, was able to successfully control the interface almost flawlessly for the first 10 to 15 seconds, becoming less responsive in the following instances.

The EmotivBCI is a work in progress, and several aspects are due to be improved. EEG signals are noisy and complex by nature, due to spontaneous firing of neurons in various directions. Because of this, event-related desynchronization is very subtle to observe, and can sometimes pass unnoticed. Muscular activity or natural reflexes, like blinking can greatly influence the results. Moreover, Event-Related desynchronization detection due to motor imagery depends a great deal on the individual. Fatigue and lack of concentration can significantly affect the results as well.

In order to overcome some of these obstacles, it is prudent to incorporate new training paradigms, in contrast to the 5-second-rest-5-second-action paradigm. These novel paradigms would consist of random cues, so the subject would not know what to expect, and shorter trial time, resulting in more data available to train the classifiers.

Even though the EEG signal is filtered to remove several unwanted artefacts, there are some that are still present, like blinking and other muscular activities. To prevent this it would be ideal to incorporate specific algorithms that recognize such irregularities and remove them.

The approach to signal processing has been mostly non-parametric. It would be interesting to couple this approach with parametric methods. Examining how the signal changes from rest to action in respect to time could provide invaluable information that could be used to help differentiate between the two states.

6. CONCLUSION

The EmotivBCI is a simple, accessible and yet robust platform for acquisition and processing of EEG data acquired from the *Emotiv Epoc*. It is now presented as a console application, but it can be the backbone to a more elegant graphic interface with a greater array of features.

Virtual reality and motor imagery show promise of a novel method of rehabilitation. Integrating the EmotivBCI in a virtual reality environment, like a virtual hand that opens and closes can be immensely beneficial. Not only by being more esthetically pleasing to the subjects, but more importantly by providing the visual stimulus that can better emphasize ERD/ERS and thereby improve classifications.

The long-term goal of the EmotivBCI would lie in neurorehabilitation. More specifically, in aiding to restore motor

function of patients with neurological disorders such as stroke or ALS, by promoting the development of new cerebral cortex pathways through practice and observation. Ultimately giving autonomy to the patient, and be more engaging than conventional therapy. Unlike the common BCI systems comprised of multiple wires and complicated hardware, the EmotivBCI could one day be provide an affordable user-friendly system that can be incorporated in a clinical setting.

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Research supported by Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) and Ministério da Ciência e Educação (MCE) Portugal (PIDDAC) under grants UID/BIO/00645/2013.

8. REFERENCES

- [1] B. H. Dobkin, "Strategies for stroke rehabilitation," *Lancet Neurol*, vol. 3, pp. 528-36, Sep 2004.
- [2] A. Venkatakrishnan, G. E. Francisco, and J. L. Contreras-Vidal, "Applications of Brain-Machine Interface Systems in Stroke Recovery and Rehabilitation," *Curr Phys Med Rehabil Rep*, vol. 2, pp. 93-105, Jun 2014.
- [3] B. H. Dobkin and A. Dorsch, "New evidence for therapies in stroke rehabilitation," *Curr Atheroscler Rep*, vol. 15, p. 331, Jun 2013.
- [4] D. A. Lobel and K. H. Lee, "Brain machine interface and limb reanimation technologies: restoring function after spinal cord injury through development of a bypass system," *Mayo Clin Proc*, vol. 89, pp. 708-14, May 2014.
- [5] L. F. Nicolas-Alonso and J. Gomez-Gil, "Brain computer interfaces, a review," *Sensors (Basel)*, vol. 12, pp. 1211-79, 2012.
- [6] G. Pfurtscheller, C. Brunner, A. Schlogl, and F. H. Lopes da Silva, "Mu rhythm (de)synchronization and EEG single-trial classification of different motor imagery tasks," *Neuroimage*, vol. 31, pp. 153-9, May 15 2006.
- [7] D. Carvalho, S. Teixeira, M. Lucas, T. F. Yuan, F. Chaves, C. Peressutti, *et al.*, "The mirror neuron system in post-stroke rehabilitation," *Int Arch Med*, vol. 6, p. 41, 2013.
- [8] S. Fok, R. Schwartz, M. Wronkiewicz, C. Holmes, J. Zhang, T. Somers, *et al.*, "An EEG-based brain computer interface for rehabilitation and restoration of hand control following stroke using ipsilateral cortical physiology," *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc*, vol. 2011, pp. 6277-80, 2011.
- [9] S. A. Sisto, G. F. Forrest, and D. Glendinning, "Virtual reality applications for motor rehabilitation after stroke," *Top Stroke Rehabil*, vol. 8, pp. 11-23, Winter 2002.
- [10] C. R. Souza, "The Accord.Net Framework", http://accord-framework.net. São Carlos, Brazil. Dec 2014.

Development of a Non-Invasive Brain-Computer Interface for Neurorehabilitation	
Rui Dinis Pinto	